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aBout the Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

the Royal lePage Franchise services Fund (the “Fund”) is a 
leading provider of services to residential real estate franchisees 
and agents coast to coast in canada. the Fund generates cash 
flow from franchise royalties and service fees derived from a 
national network of real estate franchisees and agents operating 
under the Royal lePage and Johnston & daniel brand names. 

at January 1, 2007, the Fund network was comprised of 12,539 
RealtoRs®* operating from 600 locations under 297 franchise 
agreements. With one of the strongest brands in the canadian 
residential real estate market, Royal lePage has approximately 
20% of the market based on transactional dollar volume. the Fund 
pays monthly distributions and trades on the tsX under the  
symbol “RsF.un”. 

* RealtoR® – the term RealtoR® is a trademark identifying real estate 
licensees in canada who are members of the canadian Real estate 

association (cRea). 

Key oBJectives FoR 2006

• increase revenue by 5% over 2005

•  Maintain a consistent monthly distribution  

to unitholders

•  increase the annual distribution target to $1.15 per unit, a 

4.5% increase over the 2005 distribution of $1.10 per unit

•  increase net RealtoR count by 300 to 500 through 

recruitment, franchise conversions and acquisitions

•  continue to pursue growth opportunities across canada, 

especially in alberta, atlantic canada, British columbia and 

Quebec markets

•  continue to promote our enhanced services platform 

to our RealtoR network, leveraging industry-leading 

technologies
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highlights

Key achieveMents in 2006

• increased revenue by 9% 

•  Maintained a consistent monthly distribution  

to unitholders 

•  increased the annual distribution to $1.15 per unit, a 4.5% 

increase over the 2005 distribution of $1.10 per unit 

•  increased net RealtoR count 651 through recruitment, 

franchise conversions and acquisitions  

•  expanded presence in British columbia, ontario, Quebec, 

new Brunswick and newfoundland 

•  advanced our strong market position by leveraging industry-

leading technologies

Key oBJectives FoR 2007 

• increase revenue by 4% over 2006

•  Maintain a consistent monthly distribution  

to unitholders

•  increase the annual distribution target to $1.20 per unit, a 

4.3% increase over the 2006 distribution of $1.15 per unit

•  increase the RealtoR count by 300 to 500 through 

recruitment, franchise conversions and acquisitions

•  continue to pursue growth opportunities across canada 

and identify opportunities in the u.s. 

•  continue to promote our enhanced services platform 

to our RealtoR network, leveraging industry-leading 

technologies
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letter to unitholders

We are proud to have built a business that provides industry-leading 
support for our franchisees, agents and clients. We enter 2007 
well positioned to continue to grow, both organically through agent 
recruitment and agent productivity improvement, and externally 
through select acquisitions. 

sound PeRFoRMance

during the year, we added a net 651 real estate agents to the 
Fund network, exceeding our 2006 growth target of 300 to 500. 
We began 2007 with 12,539 RealtoRs in the business effective 
January 1, 2007. organic growth through recruitment accounted 
for 261 net new agents, with the additional 390 agents coming to 
us through the acquisition of 22 real estate brokerage contracts. 
We are delighted with the quality of these new franchisees, and are 
pleased that their agents continue to embrace our brands and the 
value they represent.

Royalty revenue for the year ended december 31, 2006, increased 
9.1% over 2005 to $29.7 million, exceeding the Fund’s target of 
5%. the increase in royalty revenue reflects growth in the Fund’s 
underlying network of RealtoRs, and continued strength in 
the residential resale housing market. operating earnings before 
management fees increased 9.5% over 2005 to $26.6 million while 
net earnings decreased 27.5% to $3.5 million due to increased 
management fees, as discussed below, and increased amortization 
charges related to franchise contracts acquired at the beginning 
of 2006. 

during 2006, the Fund increased and met its target distribution of 
$1.15 per unit and generated distributable cash of $1.45 per unit, 
which exceeded target distributions by 26%. as a result of this 
strong growth in distributable cash the Fund increased target annual 
distributions for 2007 to $1.20 per unit. the growth in distributable 
cash during 2006 was offset by a $1.9 million accumulated 
management fee. this fee was recognized in the first quarter upon 
the payment of franchise contract purchase obligations and the 
recording of management fees on a “total” basis as a result of the 
elimination of working capital requirements for management fee 
purposes. Management fees charged to operations from inception 
to december 31, 2006 are the same as those, which would have 
been charged to operations on a “total” basis. Management 
evaluates the Fund’s generation of distributable cash on a “total” 
basis and under this basis distributable cash has been steadily 
increasing to $1.60 per unit in 2006, up 10% from $1.46 per unit in 
2005 and 21% from $1.32 per unit in 2004. 

eXtending BRand value thRough leading systeMs  
and suPPoRt

We continually expand and improve the products and services we 
deliver through our internet-enabled technology platform, in order 
to provide industry-leading support for our network from coast to 
coast. this platform provides our agents with communications, 
marketing, and client services and has become a significant 
competitive advantage. We also provide training and coaching 
programs to help agents apply these tools to increase sales, and to 
manage their own practices more effectively. 

With Royal lePage and Johnston & daniel, the Fund benefits 
from two of the strongest and most trusted brands in canadian 
residential real estate. We continue to look for ways to extend the 
value these marques represent. 

selling to the large and increasingly affluent demographic born 
between 1940 and 1964, known as the baby boomers, offers 
exciting new opportunities. in 2006 we introduced new programs 
to help our franchisees succeed in marketing luxury homes to these 
clients in particular. 

For Royal lePage we have the carriage trade program, complete 
with a new brand image, extensive marketing collateral, and early 
in 2007 an exciting new consumer Web portal. For Johnston & 
daniel, we introduced a globally recognized offering called luxury 
Portfolio to canada, in conjunction with our membership in leading 
Real estate companies of the World™. For all Fund RealtoRs, 
membership in this organization offers business opportunity, as it is 
the world’s largest international referral network. 

We are also pleased to have introduced the seniors Real estate 
specialist (sRes®) designation. this designation, which is 
recognized by caRP, canada’s association for people aged 50-
plus, will provide our RealtoRs with the tools and recognition to 
build their seniors client base. 

Recognizing the importance of market leadership in attracting 
new business, we actively promote our brands in communities 
across the country. Royal lePage is the most recognized authority 
on canadian residential real estate, publishing a comprehensive, 
broadly used and quoted quarterly report on canadian housing 
prices. in addition, we provide formal forecast and other research 
reports, focusing on topical issues such as trends in the recreational 
and carriage trade luxury segments.

our technology platform, training and marketing services enable 
us to attract and retain leading franchisees and agents, and 
contribute to the Fund’s agent productivity, measured as average 
transactional dollar volume per Fund agent. the Fund’s productivity 
was $2.38 million per agent in 2006, 66% higher than the industry 
residential resale average of $1.43 million. 
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Balanced MaRKets

canadian residential real estate markets set new records in 2006. 
it is important to note, however, that the national rate of growth 
moderated when compared to what we have experienced in 
recent years. 

during 2006, the housing market in ontario, Quebec and atlantic 
canada moved from a supply-constrained sellers’ market to more 
balanced conditions. unit sales volumes were similar to those 
experienced during the previous year and prices appreciated in the 
mid-single digits. 

in Western canada, and particularly in alberta, strong global 
demand for oil, gas and other natural resources buoyed the 
provincial economies, sharply increasing the number of people 
moving into the region. this spike in population, coupled with 
tight housing supply conditions, fuelled a sharp increase in 
housing prices. 

We expect canadian real estate markets to remain healthy 
throughout 2007, due to strong underlying economic fundamentals. 
in central and atlantic canada, price increases should remain in 
the mid-single digit range, with a slight decrease in the number 
of homes sold. in the west, eroding affordability should moderate 
demand, offering some relief from rapidly escalating prices. 

We welcome this shift to balanced markets. When the number of 
homes available for sale roughly matches buyer demand, agents are 
more productive, reducing the time required to complete an average 
transaction, and increasing revenue on a per agent basis. 

a moderating market typically benefits strong national firms such as 
ours, as agents and franchisees become increasingly interested in 
the benefits of association with a strong brand. this in turn supports 
our franchisees’ recruitment efforts. as well, a market cycle change 
typically triggers new brokerage acquisition opportunities. 

From a north american perspective, we expect canada’s housing 
market will continue to outperform the u.s. market during 2007. 
a number of factors are working in our favour, including healthy 
personal and governmental debt levels, the relatively modest rise in 
interest rates, and general housing affordability in our major cities.

our business model is designed to reduce the Fund’s exposure to 
fluctuations in home prices and resale volume, as franchise fees 
are secured by long-term contracts, creating a royalty stream that is 
based primarily on the number of agents in the Fund network. some 
67% of the Fund’s royalties last year were fixed in this way.

 

scalaBle PlatFoRM FoR gRoWth and 2007 oBJectives

We have created a scalable service delivery platform that is able 
to efficiently convey services across great distances. Building 
on our extensive experience in brand management and franchise 
expansion, we remain focussed on growth through accretive 
acquisition, as well as organically through agent recruitment and 
improved productivity. We are investigating both the addition of new 
brands, and measured geographic expansion into the united states. 

in 2007, we target increasing revenue by 4% over 2006, and 
continuing to maintain a consistent monthly distribution to 
unitholders. We plan to increase our network by 300 to 500 through 
recruitment, franchise conversions and acquisition. We will also 
continue to promote and enhance our service platform to our agent 
network, leveraging our industry-leading technologies.

in light of the canadian federal government’s proposed changes to 
the tax treatment of income trusts, anticipated to take effect in 2011, 
we are working with advisors from Brookfield asset Management 
to understand the alternatives available, and to choose the structure 
that will most benefit our unitholders. 

our continued solid performance in 2006 would not have been 
possible without the valued guidance of our Board of trustees 
and management team, and the outstanding contribution of our 
employees. We have a business model that can achieve both 
performance stability and sustainable growth and we will continue 
to work hard to continue to meet our business objectives and build 
unitholder value.

Philip soper
President and chief executive
March 20, 2007
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intRoduction

this section of our annual report includes management’s discussion and analysis (“Md&a”) of our results and financial condition. the 
Md&a is intended to provide you with an assessment of our past performance as well as our financial position, performance objectives 
and future prospects. the information in this section should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements for the year ended 
december 31, 2006, prepared in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“gaaP”). additional information 
relating to the Fund, including our annual information form, is available on sedaR at www.sedar.com. all dollar amounts are in canadian 
dollars unless otherwise specified.

statements contained in this Md&a which are not historical facts are forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and 
other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
For more detail on these factors see the summary of risks as outlined in the Fund’s annual information form which is filed on sedaR  
at www.sedar.com. 
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highlights 
        Year  year  year 
         ended    ended    ended  
       	December	31,  december 31,  december 31, 
($ 000’s) except agents, sales Representatives, units and per unit amounts    	 2006  2005  2004

Royalties       $	 29,659  $ 27,196  $ 23,740 

less:        

 administration expenses       	645    595    513 

 interest expense        2,401	   2,289    1,327 

 Management fee        7,285    3,660    3,660 

distributable cash     $	 19,328  $ 20,652  $ 18,240 

amortization of intangible assets      14,559  14,150  13,677

non-controlling interest      1,319  1,746  1,232

net earnings     $	 3,450	 $	 4,756	 $	 3,331

Basic and diluted earnings per unit (9,983,000 units)     $	 0.35	 $	 0.48	 $	 0.33

distributions       $	 15,303  $ 14,647  $ 14,647

cash distributions declared per 9,983,000 units     $	 1.15 $ 1.10 $ 1.10

cash distributions declared per 3,327,667 special Fund units    $	 1.15 $ 1.10 $ 1.10

total assets     $	 134,289 $ 146,165 $ 143,954

total long-term financial liabilities     $	 38,000 $ 38,000 $ 30,600

number of agents1 and sales Representatives2       12,149    11,542    10,145

the table above sets out selected historical information and other data for the Royal lePage Franchise services Fund (the “Fund”) 
which should be read in conjunction with the attached consolidated financial statements for the year ended december 31, 2006. the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared in canadian dollars and are in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“gaaP”). there are a number of external and industry factors related to the residential resale real estate brokerage industry 
and the business of the Fund which may affect an investment in the Fund’s units. a summary of these risks is outlined in the Fund’s annual 
information form which is filed on sedaR at www.sedar.com. these risks are discussed in further detail in this Md&a to the extent they 
have changed since december 31, 2005, with the most significant development being the Federal Minister of Finance’s tax Fairness Plan 
announcement late in 2006 (see Recent developments).

oveRvieW

this Md&a covers the period from January 1, 2006 to december 31, 2006 and has been prepared as at March 20, 2007.

the Fund was established on august 7, 2003, through an initial public offering. the Fund generates cash flow from the franchise royalties 
and service fees of a national network of real estate franchisees, agents and sales Representatives, operating under the Royal lePage and 
Johnston & daniel brand names (collectively the “Fund network”).

Management of the Fund is governed by a Management services agreement (“Msa”). the services under the Msa are provided by 
Residential income Fund Manager (“Manager”), a subsidiary of Brookfield asset Management inc. (“BaM”), formerly Brascan corporation. 
the senior management team of the Manager developed and managed the Fund network prior to the inception of the Fund. BaM, through 
a wholly-owned subsidiary, holds a 25% subordinated interest in the Fund (see transactions with Related Parties).

as at January 1, 2007, the Fund network was comprised of 12,539 RealtoRs3 operating from 600 locations. the Fund network has an 
approximate 20% share of the canadian residential resale real estate market based on transactional dollar volume. 

1 agent is defined as an individual who is licensed to buy or sell real estate and is actively doing so through an affiliation with a broker.
2 sales representative is defined as an individual who is licensed to buy or sell real estate and is actively doing so through an affiliation with an agent.
3 realtor® is defined as an individual licensed to trade in real estate and includes brokers, agents and sales representatives.

Management’s discussion and analysis of 
Results and Financial condition
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stRuctuRe oF the Fund
RoYaltY	Fees

the Fund generates royalties with both fixed and variable fee components. approximately 67% of the annual royalties are insulated from 
market fluctuations, as they are not directly driven by transaction volumes. Management believes that the combination of a royalty stream 
based on the number of selling-RealtoRs in the network, increasing agent and broker productivity, and an increasing supply of new 
housing inventory provides the base for a strong, stable and growing cash flow. a summary of these fees is as follows:

Fixed	franchise	fees are based on the number of agents and flat fee paying sales Representatives, collectively “selling-RealtoRs” in the 
Fund network and consist of a monthly fixed fee of $100 per selling-RealtoR, a technology fee and web services and other fees. 

Prior to July 1, 2005, the fixed fee of $100 and technology fee were based on the number of agents in the Fund network. effective July 1, 
2005, franchisees began paying the fixed monthly fee of $100 and a technology fee for sales Representatives. this change only affected 
sales Representatives that are selling-RealtoRs, and excludes brokers and managers. as of december 31, 2006, there were 891 
sales Representatives, 644 of which pay the fixed franchise fees. the majority of the remaining 247 sales Representatives are brokers 
and managers. 

Variable	franchise	fees are primarily driven by the total transaction dollar volume of business transacted by our agents. the Fund receives 
1% of each agent’s gross commission income, subject to a cap of $1,300 per year. in addition, 22 of the Fund’s larger locations situated in 
the greater toronto area (“gta”) pay a premium franchise fee ranging from 1% to 5% of the location’s gross revenue. 

approximately 88% (88% – 2005) of the Fund’s royalties are derived from the combined fixed fee of $100 per selling-RealtoR per month, 
1% variable fee and premium fees. the remaining royalty stream is generated from technology fees, the 4.5% variable fee option and web 
services and other fees. 

MonthlY	DistRibutions

during 2006, the targeted annual cash distribution of $1.15 per unit was paid monthly to public unitholders. 

to reduce unitholder risk, 25% of the Fund’s units, which are held by BaM are subordinated in their rights to distributions until public 
unitholders receive their initial target distributions of $0.0917 per unit per month, $1.10 per unit per annum. this subordination is in place 
until august 7, 2008. 

the tax allocation for 2007 distributions is estimated at 89% taxable income and 11% return of capital as compared to 74% and 26%, 
respectively, for 2006.

Management and the Board of trustees periodically review the Fund’s targeted distribution.

Recent develoPMents
tax	FaiRness	Plan

late in 2006, the Federal Minister of Finance released draft legislation in support of a tax Fairness Plan for canadians which, if enacted, 
would result in certain income trusts, including the Fund, paying taxes after fiscal 2010, similar to those paid by canadian taxable 
corporations. the payment of such taxes would reduce the cash flow of the Fund, thereby reducing the amount available for distributions to 
unitholders or payment of franchise contract acquisition obligations. the proposed changes have caused uncertainty in the capital markets 
and have negatively impacted the unit prices of many income trusts, including the Fund. this uncertainty, and the related impact and 
proposed limits on equity issued by income Funds to fund acquisitions, may affect the Fund’s ability to make future acquisitions. While the 
tax proposals are not law, but may become law at any time, management and the trustees have been monitoring the changes in the income 
trust environment and are continuing to review potential impacts on the Fund’s current strategy and the alternatives available to the Fund, to 
protect and enhance unitholder value. 
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FRanchise	acquisitions

on January 1, 2007, the Fund acquired 22 new franchise contracts serviced by 390 RealtoRs, with an estimated annual royalty stream 
of $0.8 million. the agreements for these locations were acquired in accordance with the terms of the Msa at an estimated purchase price 
of $7.2 million, with $5.7 million paid on closing and the balance to be paid in cash or units during the first quarter of 2008, upon meeting 
certain terms and conditions of the Msa.

DistRibution	incRease

effective January 1, 2007, the targeted annual distribution was increased from $1.15 to $1.20 per unit.

oPeRations oveRvieW

the key drivers of the Fund’s business and cash distributions to unitholders are:

1. the number of selling-RealtoRs in the Fund; 
2. transaction volumes;
3. the stability of the Fund’s royalty stream; and
4. the Fund’s growth opportunities.

a summary of our performance against these drivers is as follows:

nuMbeR	oF	RealtoRs	in	the	FunD

as at december 31, 2006, the Fund network was comprised of 275 independently owned and operated franchises operating from 578 
locations serviced by 12,149 RealtoRs, with an approximate 20% share of the canadian residential resale real estate market based on 
transactional dollar volume.

With the addition of an estimated 390 RealtoRs from the 22 franchise contracts acquired by the Fund on January 1, 2007, the Fund 
began the year with 12,539 RealtoRs, for a total increase of 651 RealtoRs, up 5.5% from January 1, 2006. this exceeded our stated 
2006 target growth range of 300 to 500.

tRansaction	VoluMes

the performance of the Fund is dependent upon the receipt of royalty revenue which, in turn, is partially dependent upon the level of 
residential resale real estate transactions. the residential real estate industry is affected by all of the factors affecting the economy in 
general, including changes in interest rates, unemployment and inflation. during 2006, the canadian residential resale real estate market 
(the “market”4) remained healthy despite a slightly moderating trend in both housing unit sales and average price appreciation during the 
second half of the year. some regional differences still existed with the western provinces experiencing double digit growth in unit sales 
and average price appreciation as a result of the booming oil industry, however, this growth also began to moderate during the second 
half of the year. despite the continued rise in housing prices, housing remained affordable, driven by strong employment prospects and 
low mortgage rates. a summary of the market and related activity as reported by canada Mortgage and housing corporation (“cMhc”), 
canadian Real estate association (“cRea”) and the toronto Real estate Board (“tReB”), follows:
•  canada’s annual rate of housing starts, the market’s future inventory, totalled 227,395 for the year ended december 31, 2006, relatively 

unchanged with a decrease of 0.8% over the same period in 2005. 
•  the canadian resale market totalled $133.8 billion for the year ended december 31, 2006, an increase of 11.2% over the same period 

in 2005, fuelled by an 11.1% increase in average selling price of a home to $277,034 and a 0.1% increase in residential unit sales to 
483,062 units.

•  during 2006, new Mls listings for the overall canadian housing market were up 5.8% from 2005 levels. as a result of this increase in 
listing inventory relative to sales, a more balanced market emerged. 

•  the gta market, from which the Fund earns its premium franchise fees, reached a transactional dollar volume of $29.9 billion for 
the year ended december 31, 2006, a 3.8% increase over the same period in 2005. this market activity was fuelled by the sale of 
84,859 homes at an average selling price of $352,382, a 1.0% decrease and 4.8% increase, respectively, over the same period in 2005. 

•  strong consumer confidence combined with overall housing affordability continues to encourage existing homeowners to trade up to 
larger, more expensive dwellings.

4 the market is defined as the dollar value of units sold (“transactional dollar volume”) over a 12-month period in a particular geographic area.
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MARKET DOLLAR VOLUME – CANADIAN RESALE RESIDENTIAL REAL ESTATE (1980 – 2006) (in $ Billions)

 Dollar Volume

 3 Year Rolling Average Dollar Volume
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stabilitY	oF	the	FunD’s	RoYaltY	stReaM

•  the Fund’s royalties are derived primarily from a diverse national network of 275 independently owned and operated franchises, 
the majority of which operate with fewer than 50 agents. 

•  a significant portion of the Fund’s royalties is fixed in nature based on the number of agents and their productivity, which through the 
combination of the $100 per agent per month fee and the 1% variable fee generated by agents earning in excess of the $1,300 per 
annum cap, contributed 67% of the Fund’s royalties for the twelve months ended december 31, 2006. this compares to 65% for the 
same period in 2005. 

•  the geographic distribution of the Fund network is similar to the distribution of the overall canadian RealtoR population.
•  during 2006, the Fund renewed two expiring agreements representing 12 RealtoRs and 15 other agreements representing 

905 RealtoRs in advance of their expiry. 
• during 2006, three franchise contracts were terminated resulting in a loss of four locations and 28 RealtoRs.
• the Fund has secured 10-, 15- and 20-year agreements, significantly exceeding the industry norm of five-year agreements. 

FunD	gRowth	oPPoRtunities

in 2006, our growth objective was to add 300 to 500 RealtoRs to the Fund network with approximately one-half of this growth from 
acquisitions and one-half from internal growth. growth through acquisition is achieved through the purchase of franchise contracts acquired 
by the Manager’s dedicated network development team operating under the Msa. 

growth in overall royalties is achieved by: increasing the number of selling-RealtoRs in the Fund; increasing the productivity of agents; 
expanding the range of products and services supporting the franchisees and agents; increasing adoption of these products and services; 
and providing sales and marketing programs to the Fund network. these services are supported by ongoing training programs for 
franchisees and selling-RealtoRs that assist in leveraging the Fund’s competitive advantages to attract and retain potential recruits. 
a summary of results to the date of this report follows:

• organic growth for the year ended december 31, 2006 totalled 261 RealtoRs. 
•  on January 1, 2007, franchise contracts representing 22 locations serviced by an estimated 390 agents operating under the Royal 

lePage brand were purchased by the Fund. 
•  the combination of organic growth and the franchise contracts acquired on January 1, 2007, represents 651 new RealtoRs, which 

exceeded our 2006 growth objective of 300-500 RealtoRs.
•  the Manager continues to develop, introduce and support new tools, services and programs, which assist franchisees in attracting and 

retaining RealtoRs, increasing their productivity and driving down administration costs.

the canadian Residential Resale Real estate MaRKet

since 1980, the canadian residential resale real estate market has grown at a compound annual growth rate (“cagR”) of 10%. the 
market has been very resilient with only two significant downturns occurring in 1990 and 1995, both of which returned to pre-downturn 
levels within 24 months. during the 1990 downturn, interest rates were relatively high and there was significant speculation in the form of 
building and multiple home ownership. since that time, lenders now require builders to pre-sell a significant portion of their developments 
before advancing funds. Market activity since 1980 is provided in the chart below.
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the canadian Real estate RealtoR PoPulation

the number of RealtoRs in the Fund network is a key driver of the Fund’s results. For the year ended december 31, 2006, on the 
strength of another robust residential resale real estate market, the canadian real estate RealtoR membership grew by 7.3% to 
88,906 members with an average of six units sold per RealtoR. the number of RealtoRs in the Fund network grew by 5.3% over the 
same period. the canadian RealtoR population and the average number of units sold per RealtoR are summarized in the chart below.

the Fund netWoRK
RealtoR	gRowth

year over year, the number of RealtoRs in the Fund network grew by 5.5% or 651 RealtoRs to 12,539. industry wide, by comparison, 
cRea reported that the number of RealtoRs in canada grew by 7.3% during 2006, which exceeded the Fund’s growth. three factors 
contributed to this difference: first, in anticipation of moderating market activity, many Fund brokerages who have been operating at full 
physical capacity, chose to focus on increasing agent productivity and more selective agent recruitment, over expanding facilities; second, 
three operations in Quebec rationalized operations, releasing some agents acquired after their previous year’s expansions; and third, the 
Fund’s agent population is slightly over-represented in ontario and atlantic canada regions, which experienced lower growth than some 
other areas of the country. Management estimates that the slight market-share erosion that this agent change differential represents was 
offset by the growth in Fund agent productivity, which was greater than the rest of cRea’s membership. 

CANADIAN REAL ESTATE REALTORS (Year ended December 31)

 Number of REALTORS

 Unit per licensed REALTOR
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a summary of the canadian and Fund’s growth in RealtoRs during the year ended december 31, 2006 follows:

 canada* the Fund network
      number    number  
      of licensed  %  of licensed  % 
      Members  change  Members  change

opening	 	 	 	 82,837	 	 	 	 11,542	

Q1     2,509  3.0%  443  3.8 %

Q2     1,477  1.8%  177  1.5 %

Q3     1,293  1.5%  39  0.4 %

Q4     790  1.0%  (52)  (0.4)%

closing	 	 	 	 88,906	 	 7.3%	 	 12,149	 	 5.3	%
     

* source – crea

netWoRK diveRsity

the Fund network is comprised of diverse operations with 74% of the Fund’s franchisees operating with fewer than 50 RealtoRs as 
at december 31, 2006. in addition, the Fund network of RealtoRs is geographically diverse with our RealtoRs spread throughout 
canada on approximately the same basis as the overall canadian RealtoR population, as summarized in the table below.

          canadian1  Fund2 
          RealtoR  network  
          Population  RealtoRs 

ontario        50%  53%

Prairies        14%  12% 

Bc         18%  16% 

Quebec        14%  15% 

Maritimes        4%  4% 

total	        100%  100% 
  

1: as at december 31, 2006, source: crea

2: as at december 31, 2006

RealtoR PRoductivity

the average Fund network RealtoR generated approximately $2.38 million in transactional dollar volume in 2006, up 5% from 
$2.26 million in 2005. this productivity was 66% greater than the estimated average of $1.43 million for all other canadian RealtoRs, 
up 3% from 2005. Management believes the higher productivity of Fund network RealtoRs makes the Fund less prone than the industry 
at large to losing its RealtoRs during a period of reduced transaction dollar volume. a summary of average transaction dollar volume per 
agent for the year ended december 31, 1994 through 2006 is as follows: 

CANADIAN RESIDENTIAL REAL ESTATE RESALE MARKET (Average Transaction Dollar Volume per REALTOR, $ thousands)

The Fund Network

Rest of Canada

94 9796 98 99 00 01 02 03 04 06

Source: CREA and Fund Management
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oPeRating Results
        Year  year  year 
         ended	   ended    ended 
       December	31,  december 31,  december 31, 
($ 000’s) except unit and per unit amounts      2006  2005  2004

Royalties       

 Fixed franchise fees      $	 13,827  $ 12,332  $ 10,649 

 variable franchise fees       	7,832	   7,337    6,377 

 Premium franchise fees        4,488	   4,241    3,971 

 other fee revenue and services      	3,512	   3,286    2,743 

         29,659	   27,196    23,740 

less:       

 administration expenses       	645    595    513 

 interest expense        2,401	   2,289    1,327 

 Management fee        7,285	   3,660    3,660 

distributable cash      	19,328	   20,652    18,240 

amortization of intangible assets       14,559    14,150    13,677 

non-controlling interest       1,319	   1,746    1,232 

net earnings      $	 3,450	 $ 4,756  $ 3,331 

Basic and diluted earnings per unit (9,983,000 units)     $	 0.35	 $ 0.48  $ 0.33

the	Fund	network	as at december 31, 2006, was comprised of 11,258 agents and 891 sales Representatives, with 10,956 of the agents 
operating under the combined flat fee of $100 per month and 1% of gross earnings option (the “$100/1% option”), 302 agents operating 
under the 4.5% variable fee option (the “4.5% option”) and 644 sales Representatives operating under the $100 per month fixed fee plan.

Royalties	for the year ended december 31, 2006 totalled $29.7 million, up 9% from the same period in 2005. 

the Fund generates royalties from both fixed and variable fee components as described earlier in structure of the Fund. 

combined fixed, variable and premium franchise fees represented 88% of royalties for the year ended december 31, 2006, unchanged 
from the same period in 2005. 

Fixed franchise fees for the year ended december 31, 2006 increased 12% over the same period in 2005 exceeding the increase in the 
underlying agents, as sales Representatives began paying the $100 fixed fee per month effective July 1, 2005.

variable franchise fees for the year ended december 31, 2006 grew by 7% over the same period in 2005 while the market activity 
increased 11%. as anticipated, the increase in market activity for the twelve months ended december 31, 2006 outpaced the increase in 
the Fund’s variable fees as approximately 21% (2005 – 21%) of the Fund network agents exceeded the annual 1% variable fee cap of 
$1,300. the-year-over year increase in variable fees was due primarily to the increase in the number of agents in the Fund network.

Premium franchise fees are derived from the 22 franchise locations servicing the gta market that pay premium fees ranging from 1% to 
5% of the location’s gross revenue. Premium franchise fees for the year ended december 31, 2006, increased 6% over the same period 
in 2005, while the gta market activity for the same period experienced a 4% increase. the percentage increase in year-over-year premium 
fees as compared to the gta market is not entirely comparable as the market growth experienced in the individual market areas serviced by 
the premium-fee-paying franchise locations differs from the overall gta market activity. 

other fees and services which accounted for 12% of Fund royalties for the year ended december 31, 2006, were consistent with the same 
period in 2005. these fees, comprised of technology fees, 4.5% option, web service and other fees and revenue, increased 7% over the 
same period in 2005, due primarily to the growth in the number of RealtoRs in the network.

administration	expenses of $0.6 million for the year ended december 31, 2006 were in line with management’s expectations. 
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interest	expense is comprised of interest on the Fund’s $38 million private debt placement and amortization of the financing charges 
incurred to secure the placement. the Fund’s interest expense totalled $2.4 million for the year ended december 31, 2006, an increase 
of $0.1 million over the same period in 2005, the result of an increase in our debt and move from a variable interest rate position on our 
$30.6 million term loan to a $38 million private debt placement at an effective fixed rate of 6.3% on February 18, 2005. the $2 million 
operating line has remained undrawn since inception of the Fund.

Management	fee	expense
Management fees of $7.3 million for the year ended december 31, 2006, increased from $3.6 million in the same period in 2005, in line 
with management’s expectations. Management fees represent 20% of royalties less administration expenses and interest expenses in 
accordance with the Msa. 

included in the management fee for the year ended december 31, 2006 was an accumulated management fee of $1.9 million relating to 
$9.4 million of distributable cash previously retained by the Fund (see distributable cash and summary of Quarterly Results).

amortization	of	intangible	assets
intangible assets relate to the values attributed to the franchise contracts and relationships and trademarks acquired by the Fund since 
august 7, 2003. trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement plus one renewal period, while 
franchise contracts are amortized over the term of the agreements. Relationships represent the value attributed to franchise renewals 
and are amortized over the renewal period, at the commencement of that period. see acquisitions and deposit on acquisitions for further 
discussion regarding intangible assets arising on acquisitions.

net	earnings for the year ended december 31, 2006 totalled $3.5 million. net earnings represent earnings less non-cash charges 
of $14.6 million of amortization related to intangible assets and $1.3 million related to the non-controlling interest’s 25% share of the 
operating results.

distRiButaBle cash

distributable cash to unitholders represents net earnings, adjusted for the non-controlling interest’s share of net earnings, amortization and 
reasonable working capital and other reserves as defined by the Fund’s amended and Restated declaration of trust.

distributable cash does not have a standardized meaning under gaaP and accordingly may not be comparable to similar measures used 
by other issuers. Management believes that distributable cash is a useful supplemental measure of performance as it provides investors with 
an indication of the amount of cash available for distribution to unitholders. investors are cautioned, however, that distributable cash should 
not be construed as an alternative to using net earnings as a measure of profitability or the statement of cash flows. (see the table on the 
following page for a reconciliation of distributable cash to the comparable gaaP measure in the Fund’s audited financial statements).
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Distributable	cash	and	its	utilization    year  year  year august 7, 2003
since	Fund	inception    ended    ended   ended   to 
     december 31,  december 31,  december 31, december 31,   
($ 000’s)  total	  2006  2005  2004  2003

Royalties  $	 89,397 $ 29,659  $ 27,196  $ 23,740  $ 8,802 

less: 

 administration expenses   1,984		   645    595    513   231

 interest expense   6,637	  2,401    2,289    1,327   620 

 Management fee   16,155	  7,285    3,660    3,660   1,550 

distributable cash  64,621	  19,328   20,652  18,240  6,401

less:

 distributions to public unitholders  37,980	  11,477    10,985    10,985   4,533

 distributions to non-controlling interest  12,661  3,826    3,662    3,662   1,511

 Funding of acquisitions  8,405  7,871    414    120   –  

net change in the period $	 5,575 $ (3,846) $ 5,591  $ 3,473  $ 357  

cumulative change   $ 5,575  $ 9,421  $ 3,830  $ 357

Distributable	cash    year  year  year  august 7, 2003
Reconciled	to	cash	flows	from	operating	activities    ended    ended    ended   to 
     december 31,  december 31,  december 31, december 31, 
($ 000’s)  total	  2006  2005  2004  2003

cash flows from operating activities $	 64,034	 $ 20,199  $ 20,607  $ 17,772  $ 5,456	

add (deduct):

 changes in non-cash working capital items  893  (703)   183    468    945 

 amortization of deferred charges  (306)  (168)   (138)   –   – 

distributable cash $	 64,621 $ 19,328  $ 20,652  $ 18,240  $ 6,401 

For the year ended december 31, 2006, the Fund generated distributable cash of $19.3 million which was in line with management’s 
expectations. the $1.3 million decrease in year-over-year distributable cash from $20.7 million was due in part to an accumulated 
$1.9 million management fee paid in 2006 as discussed below. 

From inception of the Fund, up to december 31, 2005, the Fund had accumulated and retained undistributed cash of $9.4 million, which 
in the event of the release of this cash would result in a 20% management fee payable to the Manager of $1.9 million. during 2006, the 
Fund released the $9.4 million cash, a portion of which was used to fund the 2005 and 2006 franchise contracts purchase obligations. 
in addition, the Board of trustees removed the requirement to retain distributable cash for purposes of the management fee calculation due 
to the Fund’s demonstrated track record of generating distributable cash in excess of its targeted annual distributions. as a result of these 
two events, the $1.9 million management fee described above, was earned and paid during 2006. the management fee continues to be 
recorded on a “total” basis (see summary of Quarterly Results for discussion of “total” basis). the Board reserves the right to retain cash 
for working capital requirements generated from operations before management fees in the future. 

as at december 31, 2006, the Fund had approximately $5.6 million in distributable cash not yet utilized, as presented in the table above. 
this undistributed cash represents distributable cash generated by the Fund less distributions to public unitholders, the non-controlling 
interest and $8.4 million in cash utilized to meet the Fund’s franchise contract purchase obligations. 
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acQuisitions and dePosit on acQuisitions

under terms of the Msa the Fund is permitted to acquire franchise contracts approved by independent trustees of the Fund from the 
Manager on January 1 of each year. the purchase price is determined in line with the terms of the Msa. the actual purchase price for 
these contracts is not determined until after october 31 of each year when an audit of the actual royalties generated under these contracts 
is completed and the purchase price is recalculated as detailed in the Msa. as a result, the initial payment representing up to 80% of the 
estimated purchase price is recorded as a deposit on acquisition. at each quarter end, the purchase price obligation is recalculated based 
on the actual royalties generated from these contracts and the resultant amount is removed from the deposit on acquisition and reclassified 
to intangible assets. the increase in intangible assets is amortized in accordance with the Fund’s intangible assets policy. Recalculated 
purchase price obligations in excess of the deposit on acquisitions are classified as purchase obligations and the corresponding amount 
transferred to intangible assets and amortization, as previously described, is recorded. 

during 2006, the January 1, 2006 franchise contract acquisition obligation was audited and determined to be $5.6 million, $0.6 million 
less than the estimated obligation due primarily to the lower than estimated retention of agents in one of the Fund’s larger acquisitions. a 
summary of the franchise contracts acquired by the Fund since inception is summarized as follows:

Date	acquired	by	the	Fund,	January	1	      2007  2006  2005
($ milllions unless stated otherwise)

Purchase Price

 estimated      7.18  6.22  9.26 

 actual      (a)  5.55   9.94 

Payments

 initial      5.74   4.98   7.05 

 Final (b) (c)       (a)   0.57   2.89 

estimated   

 annual royalty stream      0.82  0.74  1.15

 number of RealtoRs      390  346  558

 number of locations      22  21  47

 number of contracts      22  16  38

   

actual

 annual royalty stream (b)      (a)  0.66  1.24

 number of RealtoRs      (a)   345  666

 number of locations      22  21  46

 number of contracts      22  16  37
   

a) to be determined at the end of the year in accordance with the terms of the Msa

b) audited

c) purchase price obligation at december 31

PRivate deBt PlaceMent and $2 Million oPeRating line

in the low interest rate environment of 2004 and 2005, the Fund sought to increase its debt to meet its franchise contract purchase 
obligations and move from a floating interest rate position to a fixed interest rate position. accordingly, on February 18, 2005, the Fund 
completed a $38 million private debt placement with a number of canadian institutional investors for a five-year term with interest fixed at 
5.882%, payable quarterly in arrears. the private debt placement proceeds, net of approximately $0.8 million in issue costs, were used 
to repay the Fund’s $30.6 million term loan. the remaining $6.6 million in net proceeds, along with $0.4 million drawn from unutilized 
distributable cash, were utilized to meet the Fund’s January 1, 2005 initial franchise contract purchase obligation of $7 million (see 
acquisitions and deposit on acquisitions). the full amount of the debt is due upon maturity on February 17, 2010.
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on February 16, 2005, the Fund replaced its $2 million operating line with a $2 million operating line from a single canadian financial 
institution. as of the date of this Md&a, this operating line remains undrawn and in force. the $0.8 million in issue costs associated 
with the $38 million private debt placement and the $2 million operating line are amortized over the term of the private debt placement. 
during the three months and year ended december 31, 2006, $41,000 and $168,000, respectively, of these charges were amortized.

suMMaRy oF QuaRteRly Results
 2006 2005
 three	months	ended three months ended
($ 000’s) except agents, unit and  
 per unit amounts   December	31		 september	30	 	 June	30	 	March	31  december 31  september 30  June 30  March 31

Royalties

 Fixed franchise fees    $	 3,509		 $	 3,485		 $	 3,453		 $	 3,380 $ 3,261  $ 3,127  $ 2,999 $ 2,945 

 variable franchise fees    1,347		 	 	2,377		 	 	2,498		 	 	1,610    1,327   2,444    2,231    1,335 

 Premium franchise fees     990		 	 	1,685		 	 	1,125		 	 	688    1,065    1,497    1,103    576 

 other fee revenue and services   919		 	 	923		 	 	856		 	 	814	   872    869    805    740 

      6,765		 	 	8,470		 	 	7,932		 	 	6,492	   6,525    7,937    7,138    5,596 

 less:                 

 administration expenses     132		 	 	163		 	 	190		 	 	160    202    125    145    123 

 interest expense      606		 	 	605		 	 	600		 	 	590	   604    602    602    481 

 Management fee      1,205		 	 	1,540		 	 	1,429		 	 	3,111    915    915    915    915 

distributable cash    	4,822		 	 	6,162		 	 	5,713		 	 	2,631	   4,804    6,295    5,476    4,077 

amortization of intangible assets   	3,666		 	 	3,657		 	 	3,632		 	 	3,604	   3,589    3,569    3,521    3,471 

non-controlling interest    317		 	 	657		 	 	556		 	 	(211)   350    702    519    175 

net earnings    $	 839		 $	 1,848	 $	 1,525		 $	 (762) $ 865  $ 2,024  $ 1,436  $ 431 

Basic and diluted earnings  
 per unit (9,983,000 units)  $	 0.08		 $	 0.19		 $	 0.15		 $	 (0.08) $ 0.09  $ 0.20  $ 0.14  $ 0.04

number of agents     11,258		 	 11,307		 	 11,271		 	 11,141   10,693   10,514   10,376   10,081 

number of fixed fee paying 
 sales Representatives    644		 	 644		 	 645		 	 605	  566   477   –  –

Revenues increased in each quarter, year over year due to a number of factors such as organic agent count growth, increasing agent 
productivity, the acquisition of franchise contracts on January 1 of each year, the introduction of new fees such as the $100 per month 
selling-RealtoR fee in July 2005 and the introduction of new services. 

interest expense increased over the three months ended March 31, 2005 due to the increase in the Fund’s long-term debt to fund franchise 
contract obligations and as a result of moving from a floating rate to a fixed rate interest term (see Private Placement and $2 million 
operating line).

Management fees increased in 2006 due to the payment of an accumulated management fee (see distributable cash) and the recording of 
the fees on a “total” basis (see discussion of “total” basis below).

the Fund’s royalty revenues are affected by the seasonality of the canadian Residential Resale Real estate Market which typically has 
stronger second and third quarters as summarized in the chart below. the seasonality of this market is mitigated by the timing of certain 
factors such as: the acquisition of contracts in January of each year; the introduction of new services and fees; and the significant fixed 
element of the Fund’s agent count-based fees and services fees, as well as the Fund’s variable franchise fee resulting from the $1,300 per 
annum capping feature described earlier. 



Management’s discussion and analysis of 
Results and Financial condition

16 royal lepage franchise services fund

CANADIAN RESIDENTIAL RESALE REAL ESTATE MARKET (% Transactional Dollar Volume by Month) 

2006

2005

2004

Jan AprMar May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Source: CREA and Fund Management
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a key statistic management utilizes to monitor Fund performance is the rolling twelve-month distributable cash per unit, adjusted for 
management fees on a “total” basis. a “total” basis refers to the calculation of the management fees as 20% of royalties less administration 
expenses and interest expense before reserves for working capital requirements (“Reserve”). Prior to the end of 2005, a Reserve 
was deducted for purposes of the management fee calculation. as discussed earlier, this Reserve requirement was removed and the 
accumulated management fee was paid in 2006. With this payment, on an inception to date basis the adjusted management fee presented 
in the table below totals the same amount expensed in the Fund’s audited financial statements. as noted on the table below distributable 
cash calculated on this basis has been increasing each quarter and has significantly outpaced declared distributions.

adjusted1	rolling	twelve-month	distributable	cash

 2006 2005
 twelve	months	ended twelve months ended
($ 000’s) except per unit amounts  December	31	 	september	30	 	 June	30	 	March	31  december 31  september 30  June 30  March 31

Royalties    $	 29,659		 $	 29,419	 $	 28,886		 $	 28,092	 $ 27,196  $ 26,207  $ 25,222  $ 24,481 

less: 

 administration expenses    645		 	 715	 	 677		 	 632	   595    608    602   550 

 interest expense     2,401		 	 2,399		 	 2,396		 	 2,398	   2,289    2,062    1,753   1,447 

 adjusted management fee1    5,323		 	 5,261		 	 5,163		 	 5,012	   4,862    4,707    4,573   4,497 

      21,290		 	 21,044		 	 20,650		 	 20,050	  19,450   18,830   18,294   17,987 

adjusted distributable cash  
 per unit – total basis   $	 1.60		 $	 1.58		 $	 1.55		 $	 1.51	 $ 1.46  $ 1.41  $ 1.37  $ 1.35 

1 above adjusted for management fees calculated before reserves requirements. see “total” basis description.
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adjusted1	rolling	twelve-month	distributable	cash

Reconciled	to	cash	flows	from	operating	activities	 	

 2006 2005
 twelve	months	ended twelve months ended
($ 000’s) except per unit amounts   December	31	 	september	30	 	 June	30	 	March	31  december 31  september 30  June 30  March 31

cash flows from operating activities $	 20,199 $	 19,223	 $	 19,720	 $	 20,379 $ 20,607  $ 19,974 $ 18,463 $ 17,493

add (deduct):

 changes in non-cash working  
  capital items    (703)  254	 	 (112)	 	 (1,008)  183   (2)  803  1,314

 amortization of deferred charges  (168)	 	 (167)	 	 (165)	 	 (165)  (138)  (98)  (58)  (17)

 Management fee adjustment1   1,962	  1,734	 	 1,207	 	 844	 	 (1,202)  (1,044)  (914)  (803)

      21,290  21,044	 	 20,650	 	 20,050   19,450  18,830  18,294  17,987

adjusted distributable cash  
 per unit – total basis   $	 1.60 $ 1.58	 $	 1.55	 $	 1.51 $ 1.46  $ 1.41 $ 1.37 $ 1.35

1 above adjusted for management fees calculated before reserves requirements. see “total” basis description.

FouRth QuaRteR RevieW 
the	FunD	netwoRk	

during the Quarter, the Fund had a net decline of 49 agents, which was partially attributable to the loss of one location with 18 agents 
on termination of a franchise contract. historically, few new agents have joined the business in the final quarter of a year. the churn 
represented by the ongoing dynamic of agent recruitment; agent retirement, departure for competitors, and terminations, accounted for the 
balance of the small decline. 

Royalties for the Quarter of $6.8 million increased 4% over the same period in 2005. 

combined fixed franchise fees, variable franchise fees and premium franchise fees represented 86% of royalties for the Quarter as 
compared to 87% for the same period in 2005. 

Fixed franchise fees increased 8% for the Quarter over the same period in 2005. this increase exceeds the increase in the underlying 
agents and sales Representatives as a result of organic growth and franchise contract acquisitions on January 1, 2006.

variable franchise fees increased 2% for the Quarter over the same period in 2005 while the market activity increased 6%. the market 
activity for the Quarter outpaced the variable fees for the same period in 2006 due to the combination of agents reaching the annual 1% 
cap of $1,300 and the timing of the earning of variable fees as these fees are paid to the Fund after the sales transaction closes. there is 
typically a 45- to 60-day delay between a home sale and closing, and accordingly some of the market activity during the Quarter is expected 
to materialize as variable fees in the quarter ending March 31, 2007. 

Premium franchise fees decreased by 7% for the Quarter over the same period in 2005, driven in part by  a 3% decline in the gta Market 
in the three month period ended september 30 2006, which due to the delay between home sales and closing, contributed to the reduction 
in fees in the fourth quarter.

other fees and services accounted for 14% of the Fund’s royalties for the Quarter, compared with 13% of royalties in the same period in 
2005. these fees, comprised of technology fees, 4.5% option fees, web service and other fees and revenue, increased 5% over the same 
period in 2005, due primarily to the increased number of RealtoRs in the network.

administration	expenses for the Quarter were in line with management’s expectations. 
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interest	expense for the Quarter of $0.6 million was in line with the underlying debt agreement and consistent with the same period 
in 2005. 

Management	fee	expense of $1.2 million for the Quarter was in line with management’s expectations and has been calculated in 
accordance with the terms set out in the Msa. 

net	earnings for the Quarter totalled $0.8 million and represents earnings less non-cash charges of $3.7 million of amortization related to 
intangible assets and $0.3 million related to the non-controlling interest’s 25% share of the operating results.

Distributable	cash for the Quarter totalled $4.8 million which was in line with management’s expectations.

liQuidity

the Fund utilized cash flow generated from operating activities for the Quarter and year ending december 31, 2006 of $6.1 million and 
$20.2 million, respectively, to meet acquisition and distribution requirements, without drawing on its $2 million operating line. a summary of 
the Fund’s working capital position follows:

working	capital  as	at  as at  as at  as at  as at 
   December	31,  september 30,  June 30,  March 31,  december 31, 
($ 000’s)  2006  2006  2006  2006  2005

current	assets          

cash and cash equivalents $	 6,951  $ 4,708  $ 2,268  $ 1,278  $ 9,941 

accounts receivable and other  2,791   3,186   3,381   2,709   2,518 

    $	 9,742  $ 7,894  $ 5,649  $ 3,987  $ 12,459 

current	liabilities          

accounts payable and accrued liabilities $	 2,998	 $ 2,189  $ 2,320  $ 2,573  $ 2,064 

Purchase obligation  	576	   27   –  –  2,893 

distribution payable to unitholders   956	   956    957    957    915 

     4,530	   3,172    3,277    3,530    5,872 

net working capital $	 5,212  $ 4,722  $ 2,372  $ 457  $ 6,587

the Fund had a net positive working capital position of $5.2 million as at december 31, 2006, an increase of $0.5 million from $4.7 million 
as at september 30, 2006 and a decrease of $1.4 million from the $6.6 million as at december 31, 2005. this decrease from december 31, 
2005 was due primarily to the use of cash to fund the acquisition of franchise contracts (see acquisitions and deposit on acquisitions) and 
the payment of an accumulated management fee of $1.9 million (see distributable cash).

accounts receivable decreased $0.4 million from september 30, 2006 and increased $0.3 million from december 31, 2005 due primarily 
to seasonal market fluctuations, the capping of the 1% variable franchise fee and increased revenues associated with the increase in the 
number of selling-RealtoRs.

accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $3.0 million increased $0.8 million from september 30, 2006 and $0.9 million from 
december 31, 2005 due primarily to the deferral of the management fee payment to accommodate the January 1, 2007 franchise contract 
acquisition payment. accounts payable is comprised of a $1.0 million ($0.9 million – december 31, 2005) quarterly distribution payable to 
the non-controlling interest, $1.2 million ($0.3 million – december 31, 2005) in management fees payable to the Manager and $0.8 million 
($0.9 million – december 31, 2005) in interest expense, deferred service revenue and administration expense accruals. 
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as discussed earlier, the Fund purchased franchise contracts representing an estimated 390 RealtoRs operating out of 22 locations for 
an estimated purchase price of $7.2 million plus gst. as the risks and rewards of ownership do not transfer to the Fund until the purchase 
date of January 1, 2007, the liability and corresponding asset for this purchase have not been recognized as at december 31, 2006. under 
terms of the Msa, 80% of the estimated purchase price is payable on acquisition. this obligation along with the $0.6 million purchase 
obligation from the January 1, 2006 franchise contract acquisitions were paid in early 2007 from existing cash and cash equivalents.

caPital ResouRces

the existing capital resources that the Fund can draw on consist of a $2 million operating line, which has been unutilized since the 
inception of the Fund. other capital resources include: funds generated from operations; $5.6 million in unutilized distributable cash held 
for future distributions in anticipation of the seasonality of the canadian residential resale real estate market; debt servicing and distribution 
requirements; financing for the acquisition of franchise contracts. Management will assess financing alternatives such as the issuance of 
additional Fund units and additional debt when funding requirements, such as potential acquisition opportunities, present themselves.

With $5.6 million in cumulative unutilized distributable cash, an anticipated flow-through of strong market unit sales, and the anticipated 
generation of distributable cash in excess of distributions in the future, we anticipate meeting our near-term financing requirements. 

oFF-Balance sheet aRRangeMents

the Fund has no off-balance sheet arrangements.

tRansactions With Related PaRties

as at december 31, 2006, the Fund’s interests are ultimately controlled 75% by the public Fund and 25% by BaM, which sold its interest 
in certain assets to the Fund. these assets included the relationships, trademarks and franchise agreements related to the business of its 
Royal lePage residential resale real estate brokerage franchise operations. under the terms of the offering, the non-controlling interest 
must hold its 25% interest for five years until august 7, 2008 at which time it may exchange its subordinated lP units for units of the Fund. 
in addition, during the initial five-year period, the non-controlling interest’s right to receive distributions on a quarterly basis is reduced to 
the extent that the public unitholders do not receive their targeted monthly distributions of $0.0917 per unit.

as at december 31, 2006, BaM continued to operate 15 corporately-owned residential resale real estate brokerage locations in the gta 
serviced by over 1,000 agents. of these operations, 14 entered into a single franchise contract with the Fund on the inception of the Fund. 
this franchise contract provides for a 20-year term for these locations under the $100/1% option and an additional Premium franchise fee 
ranging from 1% to 5% of the location’s gross commission income for a 15-year term after which time the Premium franchise fees cease. 

the management of the Fund and its underlying structure is provided under an Msa by the Manager, which is a company controlled by 
the non-controlling interest. the Msa provides for an initial term of 10 years and is automatically renewable for successive 10-year terms 
subject to certain performance criteria and or other notification requirements. the Msa details the Fund Manager’s responsibilities and 
provides for a monthly fee, payable in arrears, of 20% of cash otherwise distributable. 

on January 1 of each year the Fund may, upon the Board of trustees’ approval and based upon criteria detailed in the Msa, purchase 
franchises acquired by the Fund Manager up to or on or about october 31 of the previous year. the acquisition amount is determined 
in accordance with a formula detailed in the Msa. the acquisition costs are satisfied by way of cash or units of the Fund and are paid 
80% on acquisition and the remaining 20% a year later when the actual franchise fees are reviewed and the acquisition calculations 
are adjusted accordingly.
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the related party transactions entered into by the Fund were transacted at contracted rates or at exchange amounts approximating fair 
market value. a summary of these amounts in thousands of dollars follows:

          Year	ended   year ended 
         December	31,	  december 31, 
          2006   2005

a) Royalties

 Fixed, variable and other       $	 2,198  $ 1,947 

 franchise fees

 Premium franchise fees       $	 3,756 $ 3,551 

b) expenses

 Management fees       $	 7,285 $ 3,660 

 insurance and other       $	 93 $ 92 

c) distributions

 distribution paid to non-controlling interest       $	 3,826 $ 3,662 

d) accounts receivable

 Franchise fees receivable and other       $	 375 $ 457 

e) accounts payable and accrued liabilities

 distributions payable to non-controlling interest       $	 957 $ 915 

 Management fees       $	 1,212 $ 325 

 Purchase obligation       $	 576 $ 2,893 

effective January 1, 2007, the Fund acquired 22 new Royal lePage residential real estate brokerage franchise contracts representing 
22 real estate brokerage locations serviced by an estimated 390 real estate agents. the Fund acquired the contracts from the Fund 
Manager through the Partnership, the limited partnership that held the real estate broker franchise contracts for the Fund. the purchase 
price of $7.2 million is based on an estimated annual royalty stream of $0.8 million and has been calculated in accordance with the formula 
set forth in the Fund’s Msa. the initial purchase price obligation of $5.7 million was paid by the Partnership during January 2007 using 
cash on hand. the remaining $1.5 million is expected to be paid in the first quarter of 2008 upon meeting the terms set out in the Msa.

cRitical accounting estiMates

substantially all of the Fund’s activities are based on cash transactions with revenue and expenditures based on contracted terms. 
the only operating activities not based on contractual terms include: the Fund’s administration costs, allocation of the intangible assets 
between franchise contracts and relationships, and trademarks and their related amortization periods. the Fund’s administration costs 
of approximately $0.6 million per annum relate to the Fund’s public reporting, regulatory and insurance costs. 

the allocation of the Fund’s intangible assets between their various classifications is subject to management estimates. the Fund’s 
intangible assets are continuously monitored to ensure that there is no impairment in the carrying value of these assets. a change in the 
carrying value would affect the net earnings of the Fund but would have no direct cash flow implications.
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Financial instRuMents

the Fund’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
purchase obligation, distributions payable to unitholders and a $38 million private debt placement. 

the Fund is exposed to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable to the extent any franchisees are unable to pay their fees. 

the Fund’s $38 million private debt is fixed at 5.882% with an effective rate of 6.3% for a five-year term commencing February 18, 2005 
and as such is not subject to interest rate fluctuations.

Management estimates the fair value of the Fund’s financial instruments to approximate their carrying values.

contRols and PRoceduRes

We maintain appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information that is publicly disclosed is complete, 
reliable and timely. our chief executive and chief Financial officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation under their direct supervision of, the 
design and effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Multilateral instrument 52-109, certification of disclosure 
in issuers’ annual and interim Filings) as at december 31, 2006, and have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures are 
operating effectively.

Management is responsible for establishing adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gaaP. our chief 
executive and chief Financial officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct supervision of, the design of our internal 
controls over financial reporting (as defined in Multilateral instrument 52-109, certification of disclosure in issuers’ annual and interim 
Filings) as at december 31, 2006 and, based on that assessment, determined that our internal controls over financial reporting were 
appropriately designed. no changes were made to the design of our internal controls over financial reporting during the three months ended 
december 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

note, however that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can 
provide absolute assurance that all control issues, including instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. these inherent limitations 
include, amongst other items: (i) that management’s assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be incorrect under varying 
conditions and circumstances; or (ii) the impact of isolated errors. 

additionally, controls may be circumvented by the unauthorized acts of individuals, by collusion of two or more people, or by management 
override. the design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and 
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential (future) conditions.

outstanding units

the Fund’s capital structure remains unchanged from its launch on august 7, 2003, with the Fund authorized to issue an unlimited number 
of units of the same class with equal rights and privileges. as at december 31, 2006, 9,983,000 units were issued and outstanding. in 
addition to these units, the Fund has also issued 3,327,667 special Fund units, which entitles the holder to vote in all votes of Fund units 
as if they had converted their subordinated lP units into Fund units. 
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Fund stRuctuRe

the Fund is governed by a Board of trustees and is comprised of a trust (Fund) on trust (holding trust) structure, as summarized above, 
that controls a general partner and limited Partnership. the trust on trust structure qualifies the Fund for canadian RRsPs, RRiFs, 
ResPs, dPsPs and similar plans. 

substantially, all Fund activity is transacted through the limited Partnership (“lP”), which in turn flows distributions to public unitholders 
and the non-controlling interest through the Fund structure. the Fund has a 75% interest in the lP by way of ordinary lP units held by the 
holding trust while the subordinated unitholder has a 25% interest in the Partnership by way of subordinated lP units. the Fund and the 
subordinated unitholder have a 75% and 25% respective ownership in the general Partner, which mirrors their lP interests. 

under the terms of the offering, the subordinated unitholder must retain its full interest for five years from the commencement of the Fund. 
Fund distributions of all available cash are made on a monthly basis to public unitholders and on a quarterly basis to the subordinated 
unitholder. during the initial five-year period, the subordinated unitholder’s distributions are subordinated to the public unitholders’ 
distributions to the extent the public unitholders have not received the initial targeted monthly distribution of $0.0917 per unit, $1.10 per unit 
per annum. at the end of the five-year term, the subordinated unitholder may exchange its units for units of the Fund. 

the lP manages the Fund’s operations and underlying structure by way of the Msa, which was discussed in detail earlier.

taXation oF Fund distRiButions 

under the Fund’s amended and Restated declaration of trust, the maximum tax deductions available to the Fund shall be claimed to the 
extent it brings its taxable income of the trust to nil. the deductions available to the trust are comprised of the costs of the offering and 
intangible assets. the estimated deductions available to the trust as at december 31, 2006 are comprised of the costs of the initial public 
offering, intangible assets of the lP, acquisitions of franchise contracts subsequent to inception, and costs associated with the $38 million 
private debt placement, which have the following deductibility profile and amounts: 

Subordinated L.P. Units 
(represents 25% of L.P. Units)

Residential
Income Fund L.P. 

RL RES
Holding Trust 

Royal LePage
Franchise

Services Fund
Residential Income

Fund General Partner
Limited

Non-Controlling Interest

 Units

Unitholders

75% common shares

Holding Trust  Units & Notes

Ordinary L.P. Units
(represents 75% of L.P. Units)

25% common shares

GP Interest 0.001%
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taxation	of	Fund	Distributions

($ millions)

Future  actual  actual  actual  Remaining  estimated 
deduction   deduction  deduction  deduction  Balance  deduction 
Basis   for 2004  for 2005  for 2006    for 2007

7% of Balance  6.2  5.7   5.2   71.4   4.7 

Five-year straight-line  1.8  1.9   1.9   3.4   1.9 

length of contract 

 plus one renewal  –  0.6   0.9   14.0   1.4 

    8.0   8.2   8.1   88.8   8.1 

For the year ended december 31, 2006, the Fund had a return of capital per unit of approximately 26% (14% – 2005) and a taxable 
amount per unit of approximately 74% (86% – 2005). these calculations are summarized in the table below. the estimated tax allocation of 
distribution for 2007 is 89% taxable income and 11% return of capital.

($ millions)    2006  2005  2004  2003

Fund net earnings    3.5  4.8  3.3    2.0 

add  

 non-controlling interest    1.3  1.7  1.2   0.7 

 amortization    14.6  14.2  13.7   3.8 

 Rounding and other          (0.1)

taxable earnings    19.4	  20.7   18.2   6.4 

less 

 tax deduction    8.1	  8.2  8.0    3.4 

taxable income    11.3  12.5  10.2   3.0 

 distributions    (15.3)  (14.6)  (14.6)  (6.0)

Return of capital    (4.0)  (2.1)  (4.4)  (3.0)

Return of capital    26%  14%  30%  50%

taxable    74%  86%  70%  50%

distributions

 unitholders    11.5  11.0   11.0   4.5 

 non-controlling interest    3.8  3.6   3.6   1.5 

      15.3	  14.6   14.6   6.0 

iMPact	oF	taxation	on	incoMe	tRusts	

at this time, it is too early to determine the extent to which the proposed taxation of income trusts will affect the Fund (see Recent 
developments). Management will continue to monitor and analyze this situation and its implications for the Fund as they develop. in the 
meantime, the business fundamentals for the Fund remain strong and we will continue to build the business to create long-term sustainable 
value for unitholders. 
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change in accounting Policies
FutuRe	accounting	changes	–	Financial	instRuMents

the cica has issued three new accounting standards:

•  section 3855, Financial instruments – Recognition and Measurement, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after october 1, 2006. 
this section describes the standards for recognizing and measuring financial instruments in the balance sheet and the standards for 
reporting gains and losses in the financial statements. Financial assets available for sale, assets and liabilities held for trading and 
derivative financial instruments, part of a hedging relationship or not, have to be measured at fair value. the impact of remeasuring our 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value will be recognized in opening deficit and opening accumulated other comprehensive income 
as appropriate. the impact of the adoption of this new section on the consolidated financial statements is not expected to be material.

•  section 1530, comprehensive income, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after october 1, 2006. it describes reporting and 
disclosure recommendations with respect to comprehensive income and its components. comprehensive income is the change in 
unitholders’ equity, which results from transactions other than those resulting from investments by unitholders and distributions to 
unitholders. these transactions and events include unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of certain financial 
instruments.

•  section 3865, hedges, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after october 1, 2006. the recommendations expand the guidelines 
outlined in accounting guideline 13 (“acg-13”), hedging Relationships. this section describes when and how hedge accounting can 
be applied as well as the disclosure requirements. hedge accounting enables the recording of gains, losses, revenues and expenses 
from the derivative financial instruments in the same period as for those related to the hedged item. as the Fund is not expected to have 
any hedged items during the upcoming fiscal year, there is no expected impact of the adoption of this new section on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

these standards will be effective for the Fund as of January 1, 2007 and will be adopted on a retroactive basis without restatement.

outlooK

We expect continued strength in the canadian residential resale real estate market in the mid-term due to strong underlying market 
fundamentals supported by low interest rates, strong consumer confidence, the relative affordability of residential real estate and a relatively 
strong economy. this strength has been, and will continue to be, mitigated somewhat by a trend toward rising interest rates and an 
increase in listing inventory levels. this rise in listing inventory is expected to lessen the pace of price appreciation across canada from 
double digits seen over the past few years to single digits for the near and mid-term, with the anticipated overall effect of a strong but more 
balanced market in most regions of canada. alberta continues to record double digit price appreciation but the pace of growth there also 
has been moderating. 

We are well positioned for the shift to balanced markets, as the benefits of strong brands and productivity-enhancing tools become more 
apparent to brokers and agents when transaction volumes moderate, and there typically are more acquisition opportunities. 

the continued strength of the canadian residential real estate market is in contrast with our u.s. counterpart, which has softened 
significantly. While transactional dollar volume in the canadian residential resale market increased 11.2% in 2006 fuelled by a selling price 
increase of 11.1%, sales in the u.s. of existing homes declined by 8.4% and the average house price increased by only 0.6%, which was 
well down from the average 9.1% appreciation of 2005. this divergent trend continued in January 2007, reflecting a number of factors, 
notably: the united states has a more aggressive monetary policy; more financial instruments that have stimulated speculative residential 
development and investment; a tax system that encourages maximum homeowner leverage; higher household debt; and a longer run-up and 
steeper house price increases. as a result, we expect this discrepancy between the two markets to continue in the short and mid-term.

the growth in transaction dollar volume of canadian residential resale real estate represents an opportunity to generate greater distributable 
cash through increased franchise fees earned from increased agent productivity and the attraction of franchisees and RealtoRs to our 
brands. to this end, we will continue to seek ways to enhance our service and support offerings and improve our efficiencies.
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during 2006, we continued to expand and improve our sales, marketing, communication and technology tools, as well as training programs 
to help agents apply the tools in order to maximize their productivity. our leading internet-based technology platform provides agents with 
an integrated web-based portal for developing their skills and growing their businesses. We also expanded our program of training and 
coaching programs to help agents achieve their career objectives. 

during 2007 we will continue to develop expertise in high growth niche markets. We were the first organization in canada to announce 
the launch of a seniors real estate specialist designation (sRes®) program, effective in the first quarter of 2007. this designation, which 
is recognized by caRP, canada’s association for individuals who are aged 50-plus, will provide our agents with the tools and recognition 
to build their seniors client base. We will also continue to develop our carriage trade program which provides comprehensive marketing 
support for high-end properties.

continuing strong market fundamentals, our technology enhancements, marketing initiatives combined with favourable debt refinancing and 
increased royalties from acquisitions, set the stage for stable and sustainable unitholder distributions.

FoRWaRd-looKing stateMents 

this Md&a and other content of this Financial Review report contains forward-looking information and other “forward-looking statements”. 
the words such as “should”, “will”, “continue”, “plan”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate” and other expressions which 
are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and which do not relate to historical matters identify forward-looking statements. 
Reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Fund to differ materially from anticipated future results, 
performance or achievement expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those set forward in the forward-looking statements include a change in general economic conditions; interest rates; 
consumer confidence; the level of residential resale transaction; the average rate of commissions charged; competition from other traditional 
real estate brokers or from discount and/or internet-based real estate alternatives; the availability of acquisition opportunities and/or the 
closing of existing real estate offices; other developments in the residential real estate brokerage industry or the Fund that reduce the 
number of and/or royalty revenue from the Fund’s RealtoRs; our ability to maintain brand equity through the use of trademarks; the 
availability of equity and debt financing; a change in tax provisions; and other risks detailed in the Fund’s annual information form which is 
filed with securities commissions and posted on sedaR at www.sedar.com. the Fund undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise 
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.



Management’s discussion and analysis of 
Results and Financial condition

26 royal lepage franchise services fund

suPPleMental inFoRMation – net eaRnings and distRiButaBle cash By PeRiod

      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  Dec.	31, 
($ 000’s except per unit amounts, unaudited)  2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

Royalties   $ 5,596  $ 7,138  $ 7,937  $ 6,525  $ 6,492  $ 7,932  $ 8,470  $	 6,765 

less:          

 administration expenses    123    145   125    202   160    190   163   	132 

 Management fee     915   915    915   915    3,111    1,429    1,540    1,205 

 interest expense     481   602    602   604    590   600    605   606 

 amortization of intangible assets    3,471   3,521    3,569    3,589   3,604    3,632   3,657   3,666	

earnings (loss) before undernoted    606    1,955    2,726    1,215   (973)  2,081    2,505   1,156 

  non-controlling interest    (175)  (519)  (702)  (350)  211    (556)  (657)   (317)

net earnings (loss) for the period    431   1,436   2,024   865   (762)   1,525   1,848   839 

add :

 amortization of intangible assets    3,471   3,521  3,569  3,589   3,604    3,632    3,657   3,666 

 non-controlling interest    175    519   702    350   (211)   556   657    317 

distributable cash    4,077   5,476  6,295   4,804    2,631   5,713   6,162    4,822	

add (less) change in:

 unutilized cash     (416)  (1,814)   (2,633)   (1,142)  1,196    (1,889)   (2,338)  (997)

distributable cash   $ 3,661  $ 3,662  $ 3,662  $ 3,662  $ 3,827  $ 3,824  $ 3,824 $	 3,825 

distributable cash available to:          

 Public unitholders   $ 2,746  $ 2,747  $ 2,746  $ 2,746  $ 2,870  $ 2,868  $ 2,869  $	 2,870 

 non-controlling interest   915    915    916    916    957   956    958   955 

      $ 3,661  $ 3,662  $ 3,662  $ 3,662  $ 3,827  $ 3,824  $ 3,827  $	 3,825 

distributions to public unitholders  $ 2,746  $ 2,747  $ 2,746  $ 2,746  $ 2,870  $ 2,868  $ 2,869  $	 2,870 

Per unit (9,983,000 units): 

 Basic and diluted earnings (loss) $ 0.04  $ 0.14  $ 0.20  $ 0.09  $ (0.08) $ 0.15  $ 0.19  $	 0.08 

 Basic and diluted distributable cash           

  before working capital  
    and other reserves  $ 0.31  $ 0.41  $ 0.47  $ 0.36  $ 0.20  $ 0.43  $ 0.46  $	 0.36 

 Basic and diluted distributions   $ 0.28  $ 0.28  $ 0.28  $ 0.28  $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $	 0.29 

taX allocation oF distRiButions

(unaudited)  2003  2004  2005  2006  2007

    (actual)  (actual)  (actual)  (actual)  (estimated)

          

other taxable income  50%  70%  86%  74%	 	 89%

Return of capital  50%  30%  14%  26%	 	 11%

total	distributions	of	the	period	 	 100%  100%  100%	 	 100%	 	 100%
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suPPleMental inFoRMation – selected Financial and oPeRating inFoRMation

      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30, 	 Dec.	31, 
($000’s, unaudited)    2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

Revenue	

Fixed franchise fees    $ 2,945  $ 2,999  $ 3,127  $ 3,261  $ 3,380  $ 3,453  $ 3,485  $	 3,509	

variable franchise fees     1,335  2,231  2,444  1,327  1,610  2,498   2,377   1,347 

Premium franchise fees     576  1,103  1,497  1,065  688  1,125  1,685  990	

other fee revenue and services     740  805  869  872  814  856  923  919 

     $ 5,596  $ 7,138 $ 7,937 $ 6,525  $ 6,492  $ 7,932  $ 8,470  $	 6,765	

%	Revenue	by	region

British columbia    15  15  14  14  16  15  14  14

Prairies    11  11  11  11  11  11  11  11

ontario    57  57  59  59  56  57  59  59

Quebec    13  13  12  12  13  13  12  12

Maritimes    4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

      100  100  100  100  100  100  100  100

      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended	
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,   sept. 30,  Dec.	31, 
changes	during	the	period   2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

number of agents and sales

 Representatives     750   323   119   205   443   177   39   (52)

number of agents     726   295   138   179   448   130   36   (49)

number of fixed fee paying  
 sales Representatives    –  –  477   89   39  40  (1)  –

number of locations     47   –  (4)  –  21   (2)  (1)  (1)

number of franchisees     38   (1)  (2)  –  16   (1)  (1)  (1)

at	end	of	period	         

number of agents and sales

 Representatives     10,895   11,218   11,337   11,542   11,985   12,162   12,201   12,149	

number of agents    10,081   10,376   10,514   10,693   11,141   11,271   11,307   11,258 

number of fixed fee paying  
 sales Representatives    –  –  477   566   605   645   644   644 

number of locations     565   565   561   561   582   580   579   578 

number of franchisees     265   264   262   262   278   277   276   275 
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suPPleMental inFoRMation
Fund unit PeRFoRMance
      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,   dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,   sept. 30,   Dec.	31, 
      2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

trading price range of units  
 (tsX: “RsF.un”)

high    $ 14.90  $ 14.30  $ 14.50  $ 13.50  $ 14.25  $ 14.75  $ 14.50  $	 14.50	

low    $ 11.50  $ 12.60  $ 12.05  $ 10.31  $ 12.50  $ 12.41  $ 13.00  $	 11.00 

close   $ 13.40  $ 13.29  $ 13.00  $ 13.10  $ 13.30  $ 13.26  $ 14.10  $	 13.35 

average daily volume    25,689  5,646  7,467  4,481  11,570  18,383  5,883  11,731

         

number of units outstanding  
 at period end   9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000  9,983,000

         

net enterprise value at  
 period end (thousands)         

 Market capitalization5   $ 178,363  $ 176,899  $ 173,039  $ 174,370  $ 177,032  $ 176,499  $ 187,680  $	 177,697 

 long-term debt    38,000   38,000    38,000    38,000   38,000   38,000    38,000    38,000 

less:

 cash on hand    3,658   5,430   8,532   9,941   1,278   2,268   4,708   6,951	

     $ 212,705 $ 209,469 $ 202,507 $ 202,429 $ 213,754 $ 212,231 $ 220,972 $	 208,746

5 comprised of the number of units outstanding at period end and 3,327,667 subordinated units, multiplied by the closing unit price.

distRiBution histoRy
  distributions per unit

Month    2003  2004  2005  2006 

January     $ 0.0917  $ 0.0917  $	 0.0958  

February      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958

March      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

april       0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

May       0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

June       0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

July       0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

august      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958 

september   $ 0.1750 * 0.0917   0.0917   0.0958

october    0.0917  0.0917   0.0917   0.0958

november    0.0917  0.0917   0.0917   0.0958

december    0.0917  0.0917   0.0917   0.0958

     $ 0.45 $ 1.10 $ 1.10 $	 1.15

* Based on a 55-day period
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suPPleMental inFoRMation – condensed Balance sheet

      as at  as at  as at  as at  as at  as at  as at  as	at 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  Dec.	31, 
($ 000’s, unaudited)    2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

cash and cash equivalents  $ 3,658   $ 5,430  $ 8,532  $ 9,941  $ 1,278   $ 2,268  $ 4,708  $	 6,951 

accounts receivable    2,874   3,074    2,797   2,434   2,614    3,320   3,159   2,699	

Prepaid expenses    86   60   27   84   95   61   27   92 

deferred charges    749   743    703   684    640   599   557   516 

deposit on acquisition    4,038   1,118    –  –   2,979   1,423   –  –

intangible assets    136,751   136,169   135,404   133,022   131,417   129,356   127,149   124,031 

      $ 148,156  $ 146,594  $ 147,463  $ 146,165  $ 139,023  $ 137,027  $ 135,600  $	 134,289	

accounts payable and  
 accrued liabilities   $ 1,858  $ 2,003  $ 2,122  $ 2,064  $ 2,573  $ 2,320  $ 2,189  $	 2,998 

Purchase obligations    –  –   1,686   2,893   –  –  27   576	

distributions payable to unitholders   915   915   915  915   957   957   956    956 

long-term debt    38,000   38,000    38,000   38,000   38,000   38,000   38,000   38,000	

non-controlling interest    27,000   26,604   26,390   25,824   24,656   24,257   23,956   23,317	

unitholders’ equity    80,383   79,072   78,350   76,469   72,837   71,493   70,472   68,442 

     $ 148,156  $ 146,594  $ 147,463  $ 146,165  $ 139,023  $ 137,027  $ 135,600  $	 134,289 
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suPPleMental inFoRMation – condensed cash FloW By PeRiod  

      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three	
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months	
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended	
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  Dec.	31, 
($ 000’s, unaudited)    2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

cash provided by (used for):         

operating	activities

net earnings (loss) for the period  $ 431  $ 1,436  $ 2,024  $ 865  $ (762) $ 1,525  $ 1,848  $	 839 

add (deduct)         

 non-controlling interest   175   519   702   350   (211)  556   657   317	

 amortization of deferred charges  17   41   40   40   44   41   42   41	

 amortization of intangible assets   3,471    3,521    3,569    3,589    3,604   3,632   3,657   3,666 

 changes in non-cash  
  working capital    (831)  (29)  429   248   360   (925)  63   1,205 

      3,263   5,488   6,764   5,092   3,035  4,829   6,267   6,068	

investing	activities

deposit on acquisition     (7,048)  –  –  –   (4,978)  –  –  –

Purchase of intangible assets   26   (19)  –  –  (2,893)   (15)  –  –

      (7,022)  (19)  –  –   (7,871)  (15)  –  –

Financing	activities         

distributions paid to unitholders   (2,746)  (2,747)  (2,746)  (2,746)  (2,870)  (2,869)  (2,869)  (2,869)

distributions paid to  
 non-controlling interest   (915)  (915)  (916)  (916)   (957)   (955)  (958)   (956)

Proceeds from long-term debt   38,000    –  –  –  –  –  –  –

Repayment of term loan    (30,600)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

deferred charges    (766)  (35)  –  (21)  –  –  –  –

      2,973   (3,697)  (3,662)  (3,683)  (3,827)   (3,824)   (3,827)  (3,825)

increase	(decrease)	in	cash	and		

	 cash	equivalents	during	the	period  (786)  1,772   3,102   1,409   (8,663)   990   2,440   2,243 

cash	and	cash	equivalents,		

	 beginning	of	period    4,444   3,658   5,430   8,532    9,941   1,278   2,268   4,708 

cash	and	cash	equivalents,		

	 end	of	period   $ 3,658   $ 5,430  $ 8,532  $ 9,941  $ 1,278  $ 2,268  $ 4,708  $	 6,951 
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suPPleMental inFoRMation – canadian Real estate MaRKet 

      three  three  three  three  three  three  three  three 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  Dec.	31,	
      2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

canada

transaction dollar volume1  $ 24,814  $ 37,809  $ 32,190  $ 25,601  $ 30,585  $ 42,607  $ 33,200  $	 27,227 

average selling price   $ 238,834  $ 251,101  $ 250,214  $ 256,519  $ 267,780  $ 283,261  $ 276,591  $	 280,968	

number of units sold    103,898   150,573   128,649   99,802   114,217    150,417    120,032    96,903 

number of RealtoRs at  
 period end    78,816    80,604    82,112   82,837   85,361    86,838    88,131   88,906	

housing starts    37,084   67,183   62,809   58,405   43,917   65,229   60,197   58,052 

greater	toronto	area        

transaction dollar volume1  $ 6,017  $ 9,371  $ 7,310  $ 6,117  $ 6,989  $ 9,640  $ 7,094  $	 6,180	

average selling price   $ 330,120  $ 344,557  $ 329,131  $ 338,396  $ 348,579  $ 363,429  $ 343,014  $	 351,070 

number of units sold    18,228   27,196    22,211   18,075   20,050    26,525    20,680   17,604 

housing starts    6,918    13,050   11,774   9,854   7,290   11,462   8,750    9,578	

1	($ millions)

      twelve  twelve  twelve  twelve  twelve  twelve  twelve  twelve 
      months  months  months  months  months  months  months  months 
      ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended  ended 
      March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30,  sept. 30,  Dec.	31,	
      2005  2005  2005  2005  2006  2006  2006  2006

canada        

transaction dollar volume1  $ 104,912  $ 109,670  $ 116,166  $ 120,395  $ 126,189  $ 130,983  $ 132,190  $	 133,825 

average selling price   $ 231,335  $ 238,134  $ 244,667  $ 249,365  $ 255,814  $ 265,640  $ 272,145  $	 277,034 

number of units sold    453,506   460,537   474,795   482,805   493,285   493,085   485,733  	 483,062 

housing starts    231,133   230,938   227,993   225,481   232,314   230,360   227,748   227,395 

seasonally adjusted housing starts    218,500    237,200    230,500   227,700   252,300   232,200   211,300   211,500 

greater	toronto	area

transaction dollar volume1  $ 26,851  $ 27,352  $ 28,205  $ 28,815  $ 29,786  $ 30,056  $ 29,839 	 $	 29,903	

average selling price   $ 320,712  $ 328,419  $ 332,471  $ 336,190  $ 340,287  $ 346,024  $ 349,689 	 $	 352,382 

number of units sold    83,723    83,283   84,834   85,710   87,532    86,861    85,330   84,859 

housing starts    42,202    42,601    41,995    41,596   41,968    40,380   37,356   37,080 

1	($ millions)

source: cMhc, crea and treB
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the accompanying financial statements and other financial information have been prepared by the Fund’s management which is responsible 
for their integrity and objectivity. to fulfill this responsibility, the Fund maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to 
ensure that its reporting practices and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate. these policies and procedures are 
designed to provide a high degree of assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.

these financial statements have been prepared in conformity with canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and where 
appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment. the financial information presented throughout this annual report is 
generally consistent with the information contained in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

deloitte & touche, llP, the independent auditors appointed by the unitholders, have examined the consolidated financial statements set out 
on pages 33 through 40 in accordance with canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them to express to the unitholders 
their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. their report is set out below. 

the consolidated financial statements have been further examined by the Board of trustees and by its audit committee, which meets with 
the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of trustees. the auditors have direct and full access 
to the audit committee and meet with the committee both with and without management present. the Board of trustees, directly and 
through its audit committee, oversees management financial reporting responsibilities and is responsible for reviewing and approving the 
financial statements. 

toronto, canada. March 20, 2007

Philip soper  Kevin a. cash 
President and chief executive senior vice-President, cFo

auditors’ Report
to the unitholdeRs oF Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Royal lePage Franchise services Fund as at december 31, 2006 and 2005 and 
the consolidated statements of earnings, unitholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended. these financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Fund’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require that we plan 
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. an audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. an audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.

in our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 
december 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles.

chartered accountants
toronto, canada, February 23, 2007

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial statements
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as at december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)        2006  2005

assets 

current assets

 cash       $	 6,951 $ 9,941

 accounts receivable        2,699  2,434

 Prepaid expenses        92  84

          9,742  12,459

deferred charges        516  684

intangible assets (note 3)        124,031  133,022

         $	 134,289 $ 146,165

liabilities	and	unitholders’	equity

current liabilities

 accounts payable and accrued liabilities       $	 2,998 $ 2,064

 Purchase obligation (note 3)        576  2,893

 distribution payable to unitholders        956  915

          4,530  5,872

long-term debt (note 6)        38,000  38,000

non-controlling interest (note 7)        23,317  25,824

          65,847  69,696

unitholders’ equity        68,442  76,469

         $	 134,289 $ 146,165

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

on behalf of the board

 

simon dean lorra ine Bel l
trustee trustee

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

consolidated Balance sheets
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years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars, except unit and per unit amounts)    2006  2005

Royalties

 Fixed franchise fees       $	 13,827 $ 12,332

 variable franchise fees        7,832  7,337

 Premium franchise fees        4,488  4,241

 other fee revenue and services        3,512  3,286

         	 29,659  27,196

expenses

 administration        645  595

 Management fee (note 10)        7,285  3,660

 interest expense        2,401  2,289

 amortization of intangible assets        14,559  14,150

         	 24,890  20,694

earnings	before	undernoted        4,769  6,502

 non-controlling interest (note 7)        (1,319)  (1,746)

net	earnings       $	 3,450 $ 4,756

basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	unit	(9,983,000 units) (note 9)       $	 0.35 $ 0.48

consolidated statements of unitholders’ equity

      units  net earnings  distributions  total 
(in thousands of dollars)    (note 8)

balance,	December	31,	2004   $ 92,938 $ 5,278 $ (15,518) $ 82,698

changes during the year:

 net income    –  4,756  –  4,756

 unit distributions    –  –  (10,985)  (10,985)

balance,	December	31,	2005    92,938  10,034  (26,503)  76,469

changes during the year:

 net income    –	 	 3,450	 	 –	 	 3,450

 unit distributions    –	 	 –	 	 (11,477)	 	 (11,477)

balance,	December	31,	2006	 	 	 $	 92,938	 $	 13,484	 $	 (37,980)	 $	 68,442

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

consolidated statements of earnings
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years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)        2006  2005

cash	provided	by	(used	for):

operating	activities

 net earnings for the year       $	 3,450 $ 4,756

 items not affecting cash 

  non-controlling interest         1,319  1,746

  amortization of deferred charges        168  138

  amortization of intangible assets         14,559  14,150

 changes in non-cash working capital (note 12)         703  (183)

          20,199  20,607

investing	activities

 Purchase of intangible assets (note 3)         (4,993)  (7,041)

 Payment of purchase price obligation (note 3)        (2,893)  –

          (7,886)  (7,041)

Financing	activities

 distributions paid to unitholders        (11,477)  (10,985)

 distributions paid to non-controlling interest        (3,826)  (3,662)

 Proceeds from private debt placement        –  38,000

 Repayment of long-term debt (note 6)        –  (30,600)

 deferred charges        –  (822)

          (15,303)  (8,069)

(Decrease)	increase	in	cash	during	the	year         (2,990)  5,497

cash,	beginning	of	year	        9,941  4,444

cash,	end	of	year	       $	 6,951 $ 9,941

supplementary	cash	Flow	information (note 12) 

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

consolidated statements of cash Flows
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1. oRganiZation

Royal lePage Franchise services Fund (the “Fund”) is a limited purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of ontario 
and pursuant to an amended and Restated declaration of trust. on august 7, 2003, the Fund raised $99,830 (before issue costs) 
by issuing units on the toronto stock exchange. these proceeds together with the proceeds of a term loan were utilized to acquire 
franchise agreements, relationships and trademark rights. 

2. signiFicant accounting Policies
Basis oF PResentation

these consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Royal lePage Franchise services Fund, its wholly-owned subsidiary 
Rl Res holding trust (“Rlht”), and its 75% owned subsidiaries, Residential income Fund general Partner limited (“RiFgP”) 
and Residential income Fund l.P. (the “Partnership”). RiFgP is the managing general partner of the Partnership. trilon Bancorp inc. 
(the “non-controlling interest”) owns the remaining 25% interest in the Partnership and RiFgP.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
(“gaaP”). the Fund’s significant accounting policies are as follows:

Revenue Recognition

Franchise fees are generally based on a percentage of an agent’s gross revenue (“variable Franchise Fees”) to a specified maximum plus 
a dollar amount per agent (“Fixed Franchise Fees”). gross revenue is the gross commission income (net of outside broker payments) 
paid in respect of the closings of residential resale real estate transactions. variable Franchise Fees are recognized in income at the time 
a residential resale real estate transaction closes or lease is signed by the vendor or lessor. Fixed Franchise Fees are recognized in 
income as earned. 

Premium franchise fees are calculated as a percentage ranging from 1% to 5% of an agent’s gross commission income for a select 
number of franchise locations. these fees are recognized in income at the time a residential resale real estate transaction closes or lease 
is signed by the vendor or lessor. 

other fee-based revenues are generally recognized in income when the related services have been provided. any prepayment for future 
service is recorded as deferred revenue. the deferred revenue at december 31, 2006 was $153 (2005 – $179).

intangiBle assets

intangible assets, consisting of franchise agreements, relationships and trademark rights are recorded at cost less accumulated 
amortization. the franchise agreements are being amortized over the term of the franchise agreements using the effective rate method. 
Relationships are being amortized over one renewal period, at the commencement of that period, using the effective rate method. the 
trademarks are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the franchise agreement plus one renewal period. the Fund 
reviews the carrying value of the intangible assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. if an impairment is determined to exist, the intangible assets are written down to their fair value.

deFeRRed chaRges

deferred charges consist of financing costs which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the debt to which they relate. 
the deferred balance of $516 (2005 – $684) is net of accumulated amortization of $306 (2005 – $138).

eaRnings PeR unit

the earnings per unit are based on the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. diluted earnings per unit are 
calculated to reflect the dilutive effect, if any, of the non-controlling interest exercising its right to exchange its subordinated lP units of the 
Partnership into units of the Fund after august 7, 2008.

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

notes to the consolidated Financial statements
december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)
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use oF estiMates

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with gaaP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of impairment in the value of 
intangible assets, useful lives for amortization and the fair value of long-term debt. actual results could differ from those estimates. 

incoMe taXes 

i) Pursuant to the terms of the amended and Restated declaration of trust, the trustees of the Fund are required to make distributions or 
designate all taxable income earned by the Fund to its unitholders, including the taxable part of net realized capital gains, and will deduct 
such distributions and designations for income tax purposes. therefore, no provision for income taxes is required on income earned by 
the Fund. income tax obligations related to distributions by the Fund are the obligations of the unitholders. in respect of the assets and 
unit issuance costs of the Fund, the carrying value of the Fund’s net assets at december 31, 2006 exceeds the amortizable tax basis by 
approximately $35,700 (2005 – $42,400).

ii) on october 31, canada’s Finance Minister announced proposed changes to canada’s taxation system designed to level the playing field 
between trusts and corporations. For income trusts that were publicly traded on october 31, 2006, including the Fund, it is proposed that 
the new tax will first apply to the 2011 taxation year. should the legislation be substantively enacted, this would require the recognition of 
future tax assets and future tax liabilities with a corresponding impact on future tax expense related to temporary differences anticipated to 
reverse after January, 1 2011. at this time, it is too early to determine the extent to which the proposed legislation will affect the Fund and its 
future plans; accordingly, management will continue to monitor and analyze the situation and its implications to the Fund as they develop.

3. intangiBle assets and asset acQuisitions

on January 1, 2006, the Partnership acquired 16 franchise agreements from Residential income Fund Management limited (“RiFMl”) at a 
purchase price of $5,554 calculated in accordance with the Management services agreement (“Msa”). on January 4, 2006, $4,978 was 
paid in cash against this purchase price obligation and the remaining balance of $576 was paid in cash on January 2, 2007.

on May 1, 2006, $15 was paid in cash for legal due diligence regarding the January 1, 2006 acquisition and was recorded as 
“intangible assets”. 

on January 1, 2005, the Partnership acquired 38 franchise agreements from RiFMl at a purchase price of $9,934 calculated in 
accordance with the Msa. on February 18, 2005, $7,041 was paid in cash against this purchase price obligation and the remaining 
$2,893 was paid in cash on January 4, 2006.

  2006
          accumulated	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 cost	 	 amortization	 	net	book	Value

Franchise agreements     $	 127,665	 $	 45,481	 $	 82,184

Relationships and trademarks      42,504	 	 657	 	 	41,847

        $	 170,169	 $	 46,138	 $	 124,031

  2005
         accumulated 
        cost  amortization  net Book value

Franchise agreements     $ 123,622 $ 31,136 $ 92,486

Relationships and trademarks      40,979  443  40,536

        $ 164,601 $ 31,579 $ 133,022

amortization for the year ended december 31, 2006 was $14,559 (2005 – $14,150).

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

notes to the consolidated Financial statements
december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)
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4. FRanchise agReeMents
          2006  2005

number of franchises, beginning of year         262  227

additions         16  38

terminations         (3)  (3)

number of franchises, end of year         275  262

5. oPeRating cRedit Facility

on February 16, 2005, the Partnership obtained a credit facility (the “revolver”) of up to $2,000 from a canadian financial institution. 
this revolver may be used to provide working capital to the Partnership from time to time. the revolver is subject to annual renewal 
with outstanding principal under the revolver subject to interest at the lender’s prime rate plus 1% to 1.5% or the banker acceptance 
rate plus 2% to 2.5%, based on the ratio of total debt to adjusted eBitda of the Partnership as defined in the credit agreement. as at 
december 31, 2006, the operating credit facility had not been drawn upon.

6. long-teRM deBt

on February 18, 2005, the Partnership completed the issuance of a $38,000 private debt placement (the “private placement”) provided by 
canadian institutional investors. the private placement is for a five-year term maturing February 17, 2010 with interest fixed at 5.882%, and 
only interest payable quarterly in arrears. the proceeds of the private placement, net of $822 in issue costs, were utilized by the Partnership 
to payout and retire its $30,600 term loan and to fund the Partnership’s January 1, 2005 franchise agreement acquisition obligations.

7. non-contRolling inteRest

a summary of the non-controlling interest is as follows:

          2006   2005

non-controlling interest at beginning of year       $	 25,824 $ 27,740

non-controlling interest earnings for the year        1,319  1,746

distributions         (3,826)  (3,662)

         $	 23,317 $ 25,824

the non-controlling interest owns 25 common shares in RiFgP and 3,327,667 class B subordinated limited partnership units of the 
Partnership (“subordinated lP units”) which reflects an effective 25% interest in the Partnership. an equivalent amount of special Fund 
units, which represent voting rights in the Fund, also accompanied the subordinated lP units. the Fund indirectly holds the remaining 
75% interest in the Partnership through class a limited partnership units of the Partnership (“ordinary lP units”).

the holders of the ordinary lP units and subordinated lP units are entitled to proportionately receive all distributions of the Partnership, 
in accordance with the aggregate number of ordinary lP units and subordinated lP units issued and outstanding as at the record date 
for such distribution and in accordance with the provisions of the Partnership agreement. distributions to the holder of the subordinated 
lP units are subordinated to the distributions to the holder of ordinary lP units until august 7, 2008 (the “conversion date”). the non-
controlling interest is entitled to indirectly exchange, on a one-for-one basis, subject to adjustment, the subordinated lP units for units of 
the Fund on or after the conversion date.

8. Fund units

the Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of units, each of which represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any 
distributions from the Fund. all units are of the same class with equal rights and privileges.

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

notes to the consolidated Financial statements
december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)
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Pursuant to the amended and Restated declaration of trust, the holder of the special Fund units, which accompanied the subordinated 
lP units (note 7), will be entitled to vote in all votes of Fund unitholders, as if they were holders of the number of units of the Fund they 
would receive if subordinated lP units were exchanged into units of the Fund as of the record date of such votes, and will be treated in 
all respects as unitholders of the Fund for the purpose of any such votes. the special Fund units are not entitled to receive distributions.

units are redeemable at the option of the holder at a price based on the market value as defined in the declaration of trust, subject to 
a maximum of $50,000 in cash redemptions by the Fund in any one month. the limitation may be waived at the discretion of the trustees 
of the Fund. 

9. eaRnings PeR unit

the special Fund units were not included in the diluted per unit calculations as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

10. ManageMent seRvices agReeMent

i) the Fund has a Msa with the Residential income Fund Manager limited (“RiFMl”), a party related to the non-controlling interest via 
common control, under which RiFMl is to provide certain management, administrative and support services to the Fund and its subsidiaries. 
the Msa commenced august 7, 2003, has an initial term of 10 years and is automatically renewable for successive 10-year periods subject 
to approval of the Fund and RiFMl. the Msa provides for the payment of a monthly fee equal to 20% of the cash of the Partnership 
otherwise available for distribution. For the year ended december 31, 2006, RiFMl earned $7,285 for these services (2005 – $3,660).

ii) since inception, the Fund had accumulated and retained undistributed cash of $9.4 million, which in the event of the release of this 
excess cash would result in a 20% management fee payable to RiFMl. during 2006, the Fund released the $9.4 million in excess cash, 
a portion of which was used to fund the 2005 and 2006 franchise agreements purchase obligations. as a result, management fees of  
$1.9 million relating to the $9.4 million was incurred and is included in management fees expense.

11. Related PaRty tRansactions 

the Fund had the following transactions with parties related to the non-controlling interest. these transactions have been recorded at the 
exchange amount agreed to between the parties.

          2006  2005

a) Royalties

  Fixed, variable and other franchise fees        $	 2,198 $ 1,947

  Premium franchise fees        $	 3,756 $ 3,551

b) expenses

  Management fees        $	 7,285 $ 3,660

  insurance and other       $	 93 $ 92

c) distributions

  distributions paid to non-controlling interest       $	 3,826 $ 3,662

the following amounts due to/from related parties are included in the account balance as described:

as at december 31        2006  2005

d) accounts receivable

  Franchise fees receivable and other        $	 375 $ 457

e) accounts payable and accrued liabilities

  distributions payable to non-controlling interest        $	 957 $ 915

  Management fees        $	 1,228 $ 325

  Purchase obligation       $	 576 $ 2,893

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

notes to the consolidated Financial statements
december 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands of dollars)
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12. suPPleMental cash FloW inFoRMation
          2006  2005

a) changes in non-cash working capital 

  accounts receivable        $	 (265) $ (258)

  Prepaid expenses        (7)  12

  accounts payable and accrued liabilities        934  63

  distributions payable to unitholders        41  –

         $	 703 $ (183)

b) supplementary information 

  interest paid       $	 2,235 $ 1,921

13. Financial instRuMents

in the normal course of business the Fund is exposed to a number of financial risks that can affect its operating performance. these risks 
are outlined below:

(a) cRedit RisK

credit risk arises from the possibility that the franchisees may experience financial difficulty and be unable to pay outstanding franchise fees. 
the Fund’s credit risk is limited to the recorded amount of accounts receivable.

(B) FaiR value

the fair value of the Fund’s financial instruments, which consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, distributions payable to unitholders and the term loan, are estimated by management to approximate their carrying values.

14. suBseQuent events

effective January 1, 2007, the Partnership acquired 22 new franchise agreements from RiFMl. the estimated purchase price of $7,179 
is based on an estimated annual royalty stream of $822 and has been calculated in accordance with the formula set forth in the Msa. 
a deposit of $5,743, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price was paid on January 2, 2007 and the remainder will be paid a year later, 
when the final purchase price is calculated in accordance with the terms set out in the Msa. the Partnership used cash reserves to acquire 
these agreements.

Royal lePage FRanchise seRvices Fund

notes to the consolidated Financial statements
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the Fund is governed by a board of five trustees, three of whom are independent of the Fund or its manager.

the Board oversees the business and affairs of the Fund. the independent trustees also monitor the performance of the Manager on behalf 
of the Fund and ensure compliance with the terms of the Management services agreements.

the trustees have adopted formal terms of reference regarding their responsibilities and all matters of governance. they have agreed to 
formal distribution and disclosure policies, which are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

lorraine	D.	bell,	trustee	and	chair	of	the	audit	committee
since 1996, Ms. Bell has been a self-employed consultant. lorraine Bell is a chartered accountant with over 20 years of experience in the 
financial sector. Ms. Bell is a member of the Board of directors and the audit committee of the ontario Financing authority. Prior to being 
self-employed, she was the founder and responsible for general Re Financial Products canada, a derivatives services company, which she 
ran from 1993 until 1996.

simon	P.	Dean,	trustee	
since april 2005, Mr. dean has been a self-employed consultant. he was previously chief executive officer of the Manager (and its 
predecessor Rl Res) from January 1995 and Managing Partner of Brookfield Business services from 2001. Prior to joining Rl Res, 
he was President and chief executive officer of three retail organizations owned by Rogers communications inc. from 1988 to 1993 
and executive vice President of Rogers cantel Mobile communications inc., a national cellular service provider from 1993 to 1994.

allen	karp,	trustee	and	chair	of	the	governance	committee
Mr. Karp resides in toronto, ontario. Mr. Karp was a partner in the law firm of goodman and carr llP, where he practiced law from 1966 
to 1986. Mr. Karp had been with cineplex odeon corporation since 1986, where he retired as President and c.e.o. in 2002; and as 
chairman emeritus in 2005. Mr. Karp also sits on the Board of directors of alliance atlantis communications inc.; teknion corporation; 
tucows inc.; is a trustee and chairman of iBi income Fund; and is chairman of the toronto international Film Festival group.

gail	kilgour,	trustee
Ms. Kilgour brings more than 25 years of experience in the financial services industry to the Board. she currently serves on the Board of 
governors at the university of guelph and chairs their audit committee. she also serves on the Board of directors for the ontario Realty 
corporation and chairs their human Resources committee. a self employed consultant since 2005 and corporate director, Ms. Kilgour 
was previously employed by the canadian imperial Bank of commerce (“ciBc”), in a number of senior management roles including, senior 
vice President, government sponsored student loans, President and chief executive officer, edulinX canada corporation, a subsidiary 
of ciBc and senior vice-President, ciBc’s e-Business strategy.

george	Myhal,	trustee	and	chairman
Mr. Myhal is Managing Partner and chief operating officer of BaM. Mr. Myhal has held a number of senior positions within Brookfield 
since joining the company in 1981. he has been instrumental in the development and growth of Brookfield’s asset management business 
and is responsible for a number of other operations throughout Brookfield including corporate development. he is a chartered accountant 
and an industrial engineering graduate of the university of toronto.

Board of trustees
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the audit committee is comprised of three independent, financially literate trustees. they meet on a quarterly basis and oversee 
financial accounting and reporting, internal control, risk management and insurance, external/internal audit and publicly disclosed 
financial information.

the audit committee reviews and reports to the Board of trustees on interim financial statements, audited annual financial statements, 
public disclosure documents containing audited or unaudited financial information, and the effectiveness of management policies and 
practices concerning financial reporting and control.

the audit committee is also responsible for retaining the external auditor. it receives an annual report from the auditor on the independence 
of the auditors. the committee also reviews any relationship between the auditor, the Fund and the Manager – or any other relationships 
that may adversely affect the auditor’s independence.

the Royal lePage shelter Foundation
Royal lePage shelter Foundation is a national public foundation dedicated to supporting shelters across canada. Working in association 
with Royal lePage volunteers, the shelter Foundation has partnerships with 150 women’s shelters and services more than 30,000 women 
and children each year. supported by our agents and franchisees through local events, funds raised through the shelter Foundation over 
the past five years exceeded $4 million.

suPPoRting ReseaRch and PRogRaMs

the Foundation’s work focuses on assisting women and children fleeing violence and abuse, raising awareness of shelters through public 
awareness programs and promoting violence prevention education. in 2004, the Royal lePage charitable Foundation approved a pledge 
of $1.2 million to the shelter Foundation to support the centre for Research on violence associated with the university of Western ontario 
in their development of programs designed to foster healthy relationships and life choices among young people. 

audit committee
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the Fund is managed by the same progressive team that 
developed the Royal lePage and Johnston & daniel network 
prior to the Fund’s launch.

Philip	soper, 
President and chief executive 

kevin	cash,	
chief Financial officer

carolyn	cheng,	
vice President, strategic Business services

Max	cohen,	
secretary & general counsel

lisa	Da	Rocha,
vice President, Marketing and communications

wendy	Forsythe,	
vice President, sales services

andy	Puthon,	
executive vice President, network development 

gino	Romanese,	
senior vice President, Brokerage operations

gurinder	sandhu,	
vice President, Finance

scott	webb,	
director, information systems

Management team
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We regularly provide unitholders with information about the 
Fund through our annual report, quarterly reports and periodic 
news releases. information is available online at www.rsfund.ca. 
on our Web site you will find summary information about the 
Fund, public reports, press releases, statutory filings, units and 
distribution information. 

Please	DiRect	inquiRies	to:
Jane Watson
investor Relations
jwatson@royallepage.ca
(905) 274-2414

heaD	oFFice
Royal lePage Franchise services Fund
39 Wynford drive
don Mills, on
M3c 3K5
telephone: (416) 510-5800
Facsimile: (416) 510-5856
info@rsfund.ca
www.rsfund.ca 

annual	geneRal	Meeting
the annual general Meeting will be held on May 8, 2007  
at 10:00 a.m. at the hockey hall of Fame, located at Bce Place,  
30 yonge street, toronto

tRansFeR	agent	anD	RegistRaR
ciBc Mellon trust company
P.o. Box 7010
adelaide street Postal station
toronto, on 
M5c 2W9
toll free throughout north america: 
1-800-387-0825  
or in toronto (416) 653-5500
Facsimile: (416) 643-5501
inquiries@cibcmellon.com
www.cibcmellon.com/investor

auDitoRs
deloitte & touche llP

tsx	sYMbol:	RsF.un
Fund units are eligible investments for dPsPs, RRsPs, RRiFs 
and ResPs

communications to unitholders






